

REGULATING BARRISTERS

Special Meeting of the Bar Standards Board

Thursday 11 April 2024, 5.00 pm (Hybrid meeting - in person and online)

Rooms 1.4 – 1.7, First Floor, BSB Offices / MS Teams Agenda – Part 1 – Public

This meeting will be recorded for the purposes of minute taking as previously agreed by the Board. Your consent to this is assumed if you decide to attend. The recording will be deleted once the minutes are formally approved at the next meeting

Note: this meeting will be preceded by a seminar for Board Members commencing at 3.15 pm. It will be a discussion on the Risk Assessment Framework.

1.	Welcome		Chair	Page
2.	Apologies		Chair	
3.	Bar Standards Enforcement Review: Final report from Fieldfisher (5.00 pm)	BSB 024 (24)	Ian Busby, Consultant, Fieldfisher Sarah Ellson, Partner, Fieldfisher	3-69
4.	Executive response to the Enforcement Review Recommendations (5.30 pm)	BSB 025 (24)	Sara Jagger	71-118

5. Any other business

6. Date of next meeting Thursday 23 May 2024 (2 pm)

7. **Private Session** (6.00 pm)

John Picken, Governance Officer 4 April 2024

Reminder on Data Protection

These are classed as confidential papers, and in line with the BSB's policy on data protection, please ensure that:

- the pdf of these papers is deleted from your personal computer, and any other device, as soon as it is no longer required. If any material contains personal data, then this should be shortly after the meeting has taken place;
- the hard copy papers are disposed of securely. The BSB has facilities for this so please either leave the papers with us or use an alternative and suitable means (eg shredding or Chambers confidential waste).

Note:

If you lose any hard copy or electronic personal data provided by the BSB or send BSB related material by email to the wrong recipient, please report this immediately to us.

BSB Paper 024 (24) Part 1 - Public fieldfisher

Bar Standards Enforcement Review April 2024



BSB Paper 024 (24) Part 1 - Public

Contents

Su	mmary of recommendations	1
1.	Introduction	7
1.1	Summary of Project Focus	
1.2	Key Benefits Addressed	8
1.3	Structure of this Report	9
2.	Key Findings	10
2.2	Engagement with Reporters	12
2.3	Initial Contact and Assessment	16
2.4	End-to-End Enforcement Responsibilities	21
2.5	Investigations and Enforcement (I&E)	22
2.6	Independent review and quality of investigations	29
2.7	The Independent Decision-making Body (IDB)	30
2.8	The Disciplinary Tribunal and BTAS	
3.	Recommendations	
3.1	Focus on delivering an effective end-to-end enforcement process	39
3.2	Achieve best-in-class knowledge management	42
3.3	Enhance how IT systems better support performance	43
3.4	Clarify the BSB's role and responsibilities to members of the public and to Reporters	45
3.5	Improving CAT performance	47
3.6	Improving Investigations and Enforcement performance.	48
3.7	The Independent Decision-making Body	50
3.8	Enable the efficiency of BTAS and the Disciplinary Tribunal	51
3.9	Rules Changes	
4.	Full list of recommendations	56

BSB Paper 024 (24) Part 1 - Public

Summary of recommendations

Summary of recommendations

Purpose of the Enforcement Review

The primary purpose of our work has been to:

- investigate how well the Bar Standard Board (BSB) handles its enforcement process from reviewing potential conduct breaches by barristers, through to final decisions being made on sanctions to be imposed either by staff, by an Independent Decision-making Panel or by the Disciplinary Tribunal;
- make recommendations on where improvements should be made.

Our work has been conducted within the BSB's current policy framework. Our review did not include a remit to explore in any detail the extent of correct decision taking in the enforcement process. However, Independent Reviewer audits and reviews are used by the BSB to validate the quality of internal decision taking, and sanctions imposed by the Disciplinary Tribunal can be appealed in the High Court.

Summary of the enforcement process

The BSB receives some 1,500 to 1,700 reports each year. The great majority of these reports are assessed as not requiring further substantive action by the BSB. Those limited numbers assessed as requiring further action (typically less than 15 per cent of the total reports received) are passed either to the Supervision Team, because they relate to matters to be resolved with Chambers (or similar entities), or to the Investigations and Enforcement Team (I&E), because they relate to the conduct of an individual barrister. Our focus has been solely on cases relating to the conduct of individual barristers.

The great majority of investigations into potential conduct breaches are triggered by the BSB receiving reports from members of the public. These reports are subject to an initial assessment by the Contact and Assessment Team (CAT) to identify if there is evidence that a potential breach of the BSB Handbook has occurred.

Where the assessment shows that:

- the potential breach presents sufficient risk;
- it can be fairly and properly investigated; and,
- there is no more appropriate body to deal with the matter,

an investigation takes place that can result in a decision that no action is to be taken, that formal advice is given or to pursue some form of enforcement action including disciplinary action.

The least serious cases pursued are typically addressed through a non-disciplinary administrative sanction decided by the Executive or by a panel of the Independent Decision-making Body (IDB); the more serious cases are decided on by a panel of the IDB that is

supported by the BSB; but the IDB Panel is required to refer the most serious alleged breaches to a hearing before the Disciplinary Tribunal (DT) which is independent of the BSB. The management of hearings at the DT are organised by the Bar Tribunal and Adjudication Service (BTAS) that falls under the aegis of the Council of the Inns of Court (COIC).

Summary of our findings and conclusions

The Enforcement procedure adopted by the BSB is in line with similar models used in professional regulation elsewhere, fundamentally the approach is appropriate but, we conclude that there is a large number of areas on which both the BSB and BTAS can focus to improve their enforcement remits.

The BSB has faced challenges in meeting its time-based key performance indicators (KPIs), both in defined parts of the end-to-end process (such as in the time taken to complete initial report assessments), and also in respect of the process as a whole. This has been a source of frustration within the organisation and within the DT and BTAS. It has also been a major source of disappointment to those who initially submitted conduct reports.

Our conclusion is that the BSB's time based KPIs are achievable. Dealing with cases in a timely way is essential to the success of the BSB's risk-based regulation strategy, and also in providing wider confidence that cases of alleged misconduct are acted on without unnecessary delay. We did not find that the applicable procedural regulations were overly complex or created major challenges in respect of enforcement process delivery. However, the processes of reaching those decisions could be much improved.

We accept that disruption caused by the Covid pandemic followed by a debilitating cyber-attack in April 2022 impaired the BSB's performance in respect of achieving its time-based KPIs. However, as our detailed recommendations show, we also found that a wide number of performance challenges could be addressed by operational changes that, collectively, would enable the BSB, together with BTAS, to evolve much more effective and efficient processes.

We also identified a number of clear themes that contributed to performance impairment that need to be addressed as a priority:

- 1. An absence of clear and direct management accountability for the effective functioning of the end-to-end enforcement system, including BSB's interfaces with BTAS. In our view this has resulted in many challenges not being addressed, even though they may have been identified.
- 2. Challenges amongst staff in being able to access the right knowledge and know-how, quickly and at the right time, to enable them to deliver their work to the best standard and in a timely way.
- 3. Considerable difficulties in getting the most out of the BSB's case management systems which can mean that information on a case is not well-shared, processes are slowed down and made complicated; and re-work is often required.

4. A lack of good understanding in the minds of the public who submit reports over the role of the BSB, and equally a lack of certainty within the organisation over the right breadth of engagement with individuals making reports, most of whom had a direct interest in the issue they had raised.

Recommendations

We made recommendations in eight areas that are summarised below.

1. Create a senior executive role that will take full responsibility for the effectiveness and continuous improvement of the end-to-end enforcement process.

Currently no single Director in BSB (below the Director General) owns the end-to-end responsibility for effective and efficient enforcement, including the effective contribution of BTAS and the Tribunal. Bringing this responsibility into a single role would mean that: one individual held direct and personal accountability for performance; was therefore highly motivated to deliver against plans and targets; and would constantly seek ways and means of addressing challenges and of delivering continuous improvement. The performance impact would be very substantial.

2. Build a "best-in-class" knowledge management environment.

Currently the BSB's CAT and I&E teams struggle to find and apply knowledge and know-how in the most effective way. A structured and well-defined approach to building a best-in-class knowledge management environment will enable the assessment and the investigations and enforcement teams to: work more efficiently and effectively; improve on process times; take better and more sound decisions; and provide a platform for individuals' skills and knowledge development and thereby support career development, recruitment and retention.

3. Improve communication and collaboration between the CAT and I&E teams and the BSB's IT function so as to quickly build and roll out an achievable near-term plan to enhance the system/process interfaces so that CAT and I&E can work more effectively.

Perceived failings in IT functionality and its application to work processes are identified by staff as the leading impairment to effective working. The benefits of delivering an evolutionary approach to enhancing IT support for staff will result in: higher productivity as measured by less time being wasted and therefore more time being applied to key work priorities; reducing the reliance on knowledgeable individuals in the team; less frustration amongst staff and therefore better morale and retention; and improved opportunities to achieve KPI targets.

4. Make clear the BSB's core responsibilities to members of the public who submit reports and therefore provide key intelligence that supports its regulatory responsibilities

The key benefits include: a better understanding by the public who provide information to the BSB of the boundaries of the BSB's role and what the BSB can realistically do so that expectations are better managed; less complaints and challenge handling; potentially the receipt of fewer reports that do not meet the BSB's assessment criteria; sustaining public confidence in the value of reporting; less work pressure on the CAT; and therefore greater focus on those assessments that are key to good risk-based regulation.

5. Improve CAT performance, so as to achieve the current time-based KPI for processing assessments, through a number of operational interventions, some of which had already been identified by the Executive and some of which are currently being implemented.

As CAT is the entry point for conduct reports and the primary initiator of enforcement activity, the changes proposed will improve the BSB's ability to meet the CAT KPI target and consequently the BSB's key KPIs in respect of achieving the time-based target for the end-to-end enforcement process. Benefits should also accrue in respect of better inter-action with public reporters leading to higher satisfaction with the BSB's processing of reports. Also, the changes will have a positive impact on stress and morale amongst staff.

6. Implement a set of changes in the way that I&E works and is supported that will significantly improve performance. These changes can be implemented as part of a "continuous improvement" programme.

The changes, taken as a whole, will show that the BSB deals with cases as quickly as is consistent with a fair resolution of the case and its obligations to the public. They will improve workflow and reduce the time taken to manage cases through the stages required to reach a final decision, be that dismissal of the allegations or the imposition of sanctions by the team, IDB or the Disciplinary Tribunal. This will result in positive impacts on I&E KPI achievement; BTAS perceptions on BSB efficiency of case management; and also on the wider achievement of the BSB's end-to-end time based targets. It will contribute to higher staff morale and job satisfaction that will also contribute to better retention and performance improvement.

7. Improve the effectiveness of BTAS and the Disciplinary Tribunal through a set of changes that will in particular reduce the excessive elapsed time occurring in the management of some of its cases. Deliver better and stronger inter-actions between BTAS and the BSB to help achieve common goals around timeliness (without compromising independence).

The principal benefits will accrue in respect of reducing the elapsed time for hearings and also the amount of wasted effort that goes into the management and support of such hearings. That in turn will enable the BSB to better deliver on one of its key objectives, that is to reduce risk to

Summary of recommendations continued

the consumer of legal services by the more expedient imposition of sanctions on those members of the profession that are committing the most serious conduct breaches. Also, speeding the process will reduce stress on members of the profession subject to potential sanction and equally reduce the opportunity for those whose aim is to cause delay, to do so.

8. Make changes to parts of the BSB handbook and internal operating procedures that will enable greater process efficiency. Whilst the procedural regulations compare favourably with those of other regulators the Handbook needs to be better organised and simplified using plain English.

The benefits of the changes we propose to the operating procedures, conduct rules and also to their expression in the Handbook will act as an efficiency and productivity enabler across the enforcement activities of the BSB. In particular they would support a potentially simplified drafting of allegations, and thereafter charges, with a consequential reduction in their length and associated time spent drafting and deciding them.

BSB Paper 024 (24) Part 1 - Public

7

1. Introduction

Fieldfisher | Bar Standards Board Enforcement Review | April 2024 BSB 110424

1. Introduction

This report sets out our findings and recommendations in respect of the Bar Standard Board's (BSB) enforcement processes.

1.1 Summary of Project Focus

- 1.1.1 The objective of our work was to carry out an end-to-end review of the BSB's current enforcement processes, including BTAS and the Disciplinary Tribunal, and associated rules and policies with the aim of establishing the extent to which:
 - (i) they are fit for purpose, risk-based and proportionate, and reflect good regulatory practice;
 - (ii) they are effective in facilitating the taking of robust, timely, consistent and sound decisions;
 - (iii) there is scope for introducing change to improve efficiency and quality in how enforcement cases are handled and decisions taken.
- 1.1.2 The work, while not primarily focussed on changes introduced in 2019, also covers how those changes are currently operating as part of the overall enforcement system.

1.2 Key Benefits Addressed

- 1.2.1 The key benefits that this report addresses include:
- 1.2.2 Assuring and/or strengthening the BSB's capability to deliver its Regulatory Objectives, and in particular:
 - (i) Protecting and promoting the public interest;
 - (ii) Protecting and promoting the interests of consumers;
 - (iii) Promoting and maintaining adherence to the BSB's required professional principles.
- 1.2.3 Contributing better to the delivery of the key aims of the Strategic Plan 2022-2025, in particular:
 - (i) Efficiency: delivering core regulatory operations quickly, economically and to a high standard;
 - (ii) Standards: ensuring that barristers provide a high quality and responsive service throughout their careers;
 - (iii) Independence: strengthening the BSB's independence, capability, selfconfidence, and credibility, including in the BSB's relationship with the LSB.

1.3 Structure of this Report

In the following Section 2 we summarise the scope of work we have undertaken and our principal findings. In Section 3 we set out our major recommendations and also explain the benefits we expect from their implementation. In Section 4 we set out a full list of all recommendations made.

BSB Paper 024 (24) Part 1 - Public

2. Key Findings

Fieldfisher | Bar Standards Board Enforcement Review | April 2024 BSB 110424

2. Key Findings

There is no doubt that disruption resulting from managing through the Covid pandemic and from a debilitating cyberattack have impacted on recent past performance. We recognise that these events have also impaired to some extent the full functioning of the reforms introduced in 2019.

2.1.1 Through our investigations, we recognise that BSB staff have been very committed in addressing the immediate operational problems that these events created.

There is a very wide set of embedded challenges to the achievement of effective and satisfactory performance across nearly all aspects of the end-to-end assessment and enforcement processes and procedures. So improvements are needed throughout this whole process. We consider that these challenges are open to being successfully addressed by the BSB. We set out our recommendations on how to address these improvements in Section 3.

- 2.1.2 In this Section 2 of the report, we explain where we have identified the major issues facing the BSB's and BTAS' enforcement activities, using the chronology of the process from receipt of report to final conclusion or determination of cases.
- 2.1.3 We have undertaken extensive reviews of all aspects of the enforcement process and have gathered information and data through:
 - (i) A wide-ranging document review based on a set of information requirements we set out at the start of the Project;
 - (ii) Five extensive staff workshops supported by interviews with management and with other individuals in the BSB;
 - Seven surveys completed by: CAT and I&E teams; IDB and BTAS members; two surveys addressed to members of the public who submitted reports to the BSB; and barristers who were subject to BSB investigation (barrister respondents);
 - (iv) Data on performance extracted from the BSB's CRM system against a set of data requirements submitted;
 - (v) Case reviews involving: a deep-dive review into 20 cases concluded before March 2023; sampling CAT closures; CAT referrals closed by I&E; I&E closures (including an admin sanction; and cases closed by the IDB and cases that were determined by the Disciplinary Tribunal).

Our key findings are set out in the following sections.

2.2 Engagement with Reporters

BSB Engagement with those who provide information and report concerns can be made more effective and useful

2.2.1 The vast majority of information relating to potential conduct breaches is provided through reports lodged by members of the public. Some 1,500 to 1,700 reports are received each year, and many other members of the public are advised by staff in the Contact and Assessment Team (CAT) to go to other bodies such as the Legal Ombudsman (LeO), or to revert to their solicitor or chambers where the matters raised are complaints that should be dealt with on a client service basis. About 12-15 per cent of reports received in CAT are passed either to the Investigations and Enforcement team (I&E) or to the Supervision team.

The very large number of reports dismissed

suggests that members of the public could be better advised over the role of the BSB and the limitations on how it can help and support individuals with matters of concern.

- 2.2.2 As part of the 2019 re-organisation, the BSB decided to stop referring to information providers or reporters as "complainants". Our understanding is that the intention was therefore to treat reports from the public within the BSB's risk-based regulation framework, where individuals would be seen and referred to as **Reporters** and also potential witnesses and suppliers of additional information.
- 2.2.3 In practice a key question remains over whether the change in terminology would result in a change in the way that the BSB engages with those members of the public who report concerns. In practice, extensive effort is committed to interactions with many Reporters. Our workshops and surveys identified in particular that considerable time is being expended in CAT in dealing with individual Reporters whose reports are either dismissed or determined to have raised matters of low risk. A substantial amount of CAT resource is being spent both on drafting often very detailed reasons to Reporters why their report is not being acted upon, and also dealing with push-back and complaints from Reporters who do not accept CAT decisions.

- 2.2.4 It is clearly important that the BSB continues to respect those who submit reports and their reasons for doing so. Also, the BSB needs to demonstrate that it operates very much with the interests of the consumer of legal services at the top of its agenda. However, our conclusion is that, proportionately, much of this work risks being of limited value and also has implications for how CAT time is being used. There are two reasons why this aspect of CAT's work needs addressing:
 - (i) First, there appears to be a lack of understanding, clarity and precision within the BSB enforcement teams and amongst some of its stakeholders over responsibilities to the public at large as opposed to the consumer as an individual;
 - (ii) Also, a further lack of clarity and understanding amongst many members of the public who submit reports about the BSB's role and how regulation works in practice.
- 2.2.5 The result is that:
 - CAT Assessment Officer time is being eroded on matters of low value. This is a substantive contribution to the reason why there continues to be case allocation backlogs and delays in case processing in CAT, leading to challenges in meeting the current process KPI;
 - (ii) The public who submit reports (and take the time to complete the BSB's survey) are generally dissatisfied with the BSB's handling of those reports.

There is clearly a mis-match between how the BSB communicates and delivers its enforcement role and the expectations of the public who provide reports and who are largely frustrated by the action then taken.

Survey of members of the public who submit reports

- 2.2.6 As a matter of course, the BSB always issues a questionnaire to those who have submitted reports once the matter has been dealt with by CAT. However, questionnaire response rates are very low and, as such, do not form a good basis for understanding the views of the public who make up the vast majority of reporters.
- 2.2.7 We therefore conducted two extensive public surveys during the project. One focused on recent reports that had been reviewed and closed at the assessment stage. The second on a much smaller number of recent reports that had passed to the I&E team when cases had been closed by staff after an investigation, closed by an IDB panel, or closed after a Disciplinary Tribunal. In total 673 surveys were issued to members of the public. The surveys attracted a 20 per cent response rate.
- 2.2.8 The great majority of responses offered positive feedback about the BSB website and said they understood the BSB's role. Responses were also generally positive about the website providing good guidance on how to complete and submit a report, and individuals largely found the BSB's on-line reporting form easy to use. In sum, the entry points to the BSB were generally considered to be good and acceptable.

- 2.2.9 However, the majority view contained in responses was that the BSB did not keep those reporting adequately informed over progress. Also, some 80 per cent of responses showed dissatisfaction with the time it took to deal with their report.
- 2.2.10 The surveys also sought to understand: why a report had been submitted; the expectations of the reporter in respect of BSB action; and their views on the outcome. The majority of responses (61 per cent) showed that reporters wanted the BSB to carry out a formal investigation of what they saw, read or heard, and to take enforcement action accordingly.
- 2.2.11 On the question of satisfaction with outcomes, broadly 85 per cent of responses were negative. Nearly 90 per cent felt that the BSB had not handled their report in the way they wanted. 86 per cent were not happy that the BSB's decision was correct. Close to 90 per cent thought that their report "had not made a difference".
- 2.2.12 Four charts extracted from the survey, and shown below for information, express responders' expectations of the BSB, and whether in practice the BSB delivered on those expectations.

Which statement best describes what you wanted the BSB to do? choose only one

I wanted the BSB to carry out a formal investigation of what I saw/read/heard and take enforcement action against the barrister



BSB 110424

2. Key Findings continued

Are you satisfied that the BSB dealt with your report in the way you wanted? *choose only one*



Are you satisfied that the decision the BSB made about your report was correct? *choose only one*



Do you believe your report made a difference? choose only one



BSB 110424

- 2.2.13 With a 20 per cent response rate on a sample of some 673 reporters, we cannot definitively conclude that the results are wholly representative of the views of the many thousands of individuals who have submitted reports to the BSB since 2019 (the point at which the BSB substantially evolved its approach to assessment and enforcement). Equally, a good number of individuals have taken the time to submit their views to this project through the surveys, and their comments and feedback should therefore be heard and respected.
- 2.2.14 As we explain elsewhere in this report, timeliness in progressing reports and cases can be addressed by the BSB. Also, clear expectations can be set with those making reports over how they will be communicated with. And it lies within the BSB's ability to report back in a timely manner against commitments made to reporters.
- 2.2.15 Where the survey responses identify a clear disconnect for the BSB to address is that reporters largely do not accept that the BSB's process results in a satisfactory conclusion from their perspective. The many comments received through the survey cite issues such as: lack of transparency; exclusion from IDB and DT hearings; the scale of successful appeals against administrative sanctions. In turn this causes some to conclude that the BSB and BTAS are in practice secretive and leaning towards protecting the profession rather than effectively regulating it.
- 2.2.16 We do not know how this discontent filters through social media and other communications channels to a wider population. However, we consider that there is a risk that dissatisfaction with what many see as a futile process of reporting acts over time to reduce the stream of intelligence that the BSB receives from the public in respect of conduct breaches. So it is a serious matter for the BSB to address.

2.3 Initial Contact and Assessment

The BSB's Contact and Assessment Team (CAT) does not yet appear to have achieved full effectiveness as the primary point of entry to the BSB in respect of reports, and this is having a major impact on efficient and timely enforcement

- 2.3.1 Our remit in this project extends only to CAT's handing of assessments of reports received from Reporters relating to potential breaches by barristers. So, apart from touching upon its wider role through a workshop involving all CAT staff and a separate workshop with the Supervision team, we have not reviewed the wider aspects of CAT's total remit.
- 2.3.2 In respect of CAT's contribution to the enforcement process, which we have reviewed in detail, it is clear, and well-recognised by the BSB that CAT has struggled with recruiting and retaining staff to enable it to deliver its role in respect of report assessments. Also, for a variety of reasons equally well recognised, CAT has lacked sufficient senior management input, supervision and guidance.



CAT is a small team that needs the appropriate level of skills and know-how to work effectively. Its performance is therefore highly vulnerable to unforeseen and unplanned staff absences and departures. The unexpected loss of one Assessment Officer could therefore have an immediate impact on CAT's ability to meet its remit and hit its assessment KPI, as well as its wider service obligations to the BSB. This frailty risks continuing to impair the BSB's overall enforcement performance and so needs a sustainable resourcing solution to be in place. Otherwise, the staffing problem and its consequences will simply re-occur.

- 2.3.3 There was, at the time of our fact-finding stage in July-October 2023, a large backlog of unallocated reports in CAT. We sought to identify how the backlog impacted on the key CAT time-based KPI of processing 80 per cent of reports logged in 40 working days.
- 2.3.4 Out of 1,711 cases allocated in CAT from April 2022 to Sept 2023, the average time between case opening and case allocation was 31 working days. The CAT-related KPI of 40 working days applies at the point of case opening, so the delay in allocation (a combination of demand management, impairments to focus, and resource shortage) was inevitably having a major impact on KPI achievement.
- 2.3.5 However, in respect of risk-assessed cases (identified by CAT and referred therefore to I&E) once a case was allocated in CAT, the average period from allocation to Assessment Officer to referral to I&E was 39 working days. The assessment part of the process is therefore probably falling within CAT's KPI in respect of risk cases. (This area of positivity is not being currently identified in performance reporting).

Month

April

May

June

July

August

October

November

December

January

February

March

April

May June

July

August

September

2023

Total

September

Year

2022

2.3.6 The tables below show the data provided by month.

Number of

cases

11

93

108

91

117

92

139

105

103

110

97

139

112

104

82

85

88

35

1711

Time

unallocated*

47

40

35

31

23

12

36 39

26

29 17

26

37

37

32

42

34

15

31

All cases (open and closed) which have since been allocated

Year	Month	Number of cases	Time from allocation to referral*
	April	6	21
	Мау	3	18
	June	13	51
N	July	9	35
2022	August	15	60
2	September	7	13
	October	9	20
	November	4	31
	December	3	62
	January	16	89
	February	12	41
	March	16	30
3	April	6	21
2023	Мау	4	28
2	June	7	36
	July	10	26
	August	10	24
	September	12	28
Total		162	39

All cases referred to I&E

*Average in working days

- 2.3.7 The overall time being taken to address reports (either to dismiss them or to refer them onwards) has consistently breached the KPI of 40 working days.
- 2.3.8 Our small sample of detailed case reviews demonstrated that delays in allocation of cases caused long periods of elapsed time where no action was taken on incoming information. However once allocated, the cases we reviewed were often assessed promptly, demonstrating that swifter allocation could have a significant impact on timeliness. The consistent failure to achieve targets places much stress on staff, who have at times been faced with working extensive overtime to address this issue.

The predominant causes of CAT's performance challenge are threefold:

- The continuing substantial backlog in case allocation that needs to be urgently addressed and cleared to create the opportunity for cases to be assessed far more promptly;
- · Lack of consistent resource to do the assessment work;
- Excessive time spent in low value-add engagement with those submitting reports
- 2.3.9 We recognise the work that has already been undertaken by CAT's management to identify and to start remedial action in respect of performance improvement. Additional staff are being recruited and a plan is being implemented to clear the current backlog.
- 2.3.10 Our workshops, interviews and surveys conducted with CAT staff also identify a set of challenges to effective working. Some of these relate to policy (for example in respect of how needs for public engagement are interpreted) and others relate to impediments to good working practice, as shown in the chart below.

Levels of impairment to working effectively identified by CAT members



CAT Views on Support

(Note: since this survey was undertaken CAT staffing has increased so we anticipate that the dissatisfaction on staffing levels as seen in the survey is being addressed)

BSB 110424

- 2.3.11 Although since the beginning of 2023 it has reduced in usage, the referral to an Independent Reviewer of dismissed cases that are then challenged by Reporters, together with periodic sample audits shows good evidence that, in respect of dismissed reports, CAT staff are making the correct calls based on their assessment work. However, the position with cases referred to I&E is less clear since there is an apparent difference of approach at the CAT and I&E border over the question of the scope of assessment work needed prior to a case being referred to I&E and the application of the risk assessment. This consumes added resource and wastes time.
- 2.3.12 The problem arises from:
 - (i) a lack of succinct and clear guidance documentation to support CAT staff in reaching their decisions;
 - (ii) a lack of knowledge development in CAT relating to I&E approaches to investigations work;
 - (iii) issues in the ease of access to aspects of the CRM system so that the I&E team report finding challenges accessing the full assessment history of all cases referred to them, and CAT team members cannot easily find the details and reasons for cases being returned to them;
 - (iv) a lack of sufficient effective informal communication between the two groups where borderline assessments can be resolved;
 - (v) disagreement between CAT and I&E over what constitutes a valid and acceptable CAT assessment;
 - (vi) an overly complex risk assessment policy and online risk assessment form, and a need to apply an override to the automatic scoring, for example in relation to "previous regulatory history";
 - (vii) potentially, stress in terms of scale of workload in both CAT and I&E.

2.3.13 We recommend how these issues can be addressed in Section 3.

In summary, CAT is facing multiple challenges that, when taken together, seriously impair the team's ability to perform. These impairments mean that CAT is struggling to deliver on the mission and role it was expected to deliver in 2019.

2.4 End-to-End Enforcement Responsibilities

Since 2019 CAT and I&E have sat in separate directorates which has resulted in no-one below the Director General level having responsibility for the end-to-end Enforcement process within the BSB

- 2.4.1 The scope of our review has not extended to the various other important functions undertaken by CAT but has focused primarily on its work delivering the Enforcement procedures. We have, however, considered the case for and against a part-reversion to the arrangements that were in place prior to the 2019 changes as a means of providing a single director responsibility for the whole enforcement process. Before that restructuring, Assessment and Investigations and Enforcement came under the responsibility of a single member of the SLT. (Later in the report we discuss the "downstream" question of how the BSB and BTAS engage in the overarching delivery of regulatory enforcement objectives).
- 2.4.2 We have read the reports prepared for and by the Director General and for the BSB Board, that identify challenges to performance. Clearly, we cannot take any view on how well the pre-2019 regime had performed in respect of enforcement efficiency. However, it is clear that the transitions between CAT and I&E, and how the two teams engage, could be better.
- 2.4.3 The criteria for accepting and taking forward a report include an assessment of risk and whether the matter can be properly and fairly investigated. We note that, in accordance with a key internal policy document (ROD02), CAT is currently limited to making recommendations on whether a case should be accepted, the actual decision on acceptance being made by I&E. This policy is not required by regulations or legislation but is how BSB has opted to operate the acceptance stage. This has created tensions with I&E returning many acceptance recommendations to CAT as not being acceptable. Our view is that this area of tension could be avoided.
- 2.4.4 In most enterprises, processes need to cross departmental borders and, very often, handoffs and co-operation at these crossing points can become impaired unless clear and specific efforts are made to make these transitions work better. Otherwise, siloed behaviours are at risk of emerging. However, it has been hard for us to identify clear processes and procedures (formal and informal) between CAT and I&E through which cross-directorate issues are effectively addressed, solutions identified, and changes implemented. For example, we have not identified the existence of a "continuous improvement programme" or anything similar between CAT and I&E that could extend from the advice and guidance given to potential reporters all the way through to supporting the final determinations of the Disciplinary Tribunal.
- 2.4.5 Moreover, the tensions between the two teams/directorates now figure in part of the DG's performance report that shows the numbers of assessment referrals from CAT that are rejected by I&E. We do not view these figures as a measure of poor work. Rather they reflect the need for greater co-operation. We should make it clear that we do not see this as being a fault that can be attributed to individuals. Rather, it is a systemic failing.



- 2.4.6 Although the remit of Supervision fell outside our terms of reference, we did also consider whether there were substantive issues at the interfaces between Supervision and both CAT and I&E. It was reported to us that CAT and Supervision were more closely aligned with good communication and a joint approach to decision taking on Reports that were not straightforward to address. We did not see any reason to propose that the CAT:Supervision interface was changed in any substantive way.
- 2.4.7 For risk-based regulation to work well, both I&E and Supervision need to deliver on a complex relationship where there is full and effective information exchange, a good understanding of one another's roles and, where appropriate, aligned decision taking. We did not identify any case for structural or responsibility changes at the boundary between I&E and Supervision, but it is an area where it is important that the quality of communication is high.
- 2.4.8 In our recommendations we suggest a systemic solution to the interactions between assessment and enforcement and we discuss in more detail in those recommendations our conclusions on whether or not a part reversion to the pre-2019 model is needed.

2.5 Investigations and Enforcement (I&E)

I&E is facing a wide range of impediments and challenges that undermine its performance and also its support of IDB and the DT

- 2.5.1 I&E has five primary functions:
 - (i) The detailed investigation of reports based on referrals primarily from CAT;
 - (ii) The development of allegations;
 - (iii) Taking decisions covering: case closure; the imposition of an administrative sanction; or a referral to the Independent Decision-making Body (IDB) for a decision on allegations; referral to IDB for a determination by consent (DBC); direct referral to the Disciplinary Tribunal (DT) or referral to an Interim Panel;
 - (iv) Where I&E determine that a referral to the IDB is required, the preparation of case bundles for the IDB;
 - (v) The preparation of charges and presentation of cases against barristers at the DT for cases referred to the DT.
- 2.5.2 The current principal KPI for I&E is time-based. Chart 2.4.1 below shows, based on our I&E team survey, how people assess the focus of their effort which in turn has an impact on case progression and therefore on KPI achievement. The survey provides a very important and useful insight into how time is consumed. It asked team members to divide their time between:
 - (i) The point of referral to the point before any allegation drafting;



- (ii) Time spent in undertaking investigations and subsequent decision-taking;
- (iii) Work related to preparation for and support of the IDB;
- (iv) Work related to preparation and support of cases referred to the Disciplinary Tribunal;
- (v) Other activities, such as team meetings and supervision, not directly related to case progression.
- 2.5.3 As the chart shows, IDB and DT related effort consume substantial amounts of time. As these activities take priority over other case progression work, the net effect is that work of less immediacy is de-prioritised and that can therefore lead to delay that in turn impairs KPI achievement.

Investigations and Enforcement work division

I&E Work Division

Investigations and Decision Making			IDB related work				
			Report writir	ng		Attending I	DB
Staff decision- Liaising with third parties making/dispos							
Liaising with Barristers	Liaising v	vith Reporters	Preparation bundles for		Redactir	ng	Reviewing / finalising bundles
Other Activities	$\mathbf{)}$	BTAS re	lated work			and the second	erral to gation
Providing supervision /	Team/staff meetings					draf	
		Drafting char seeking initia preparing bu	al advice and subst			Reviewi informat	ng initial tion
Skills development / training	Being supervised / 1:1s / casework discussions						
Sourcing templates /	ng templates / Atter		General correspo and administr	ndence ative	Responding to or preparing for directions	Drafting	Allegations
policies / legal knowledge	Project work	Tribunal	work		hearings	Refer to	CAT

2.5.4 However, impairments to I&E productivity and timeliness, a combination of elapsed time, resource input, and quality of output achieved, are extensive and are not driven by any specific dominant issue, such as growing case complexity. (We note that a complexity rating has recently started to be applied to cases and so data will in time be available on that area)



2.5.5 Our surveys and workshops also explored how staff saw wider impairments to case progress. These are summarised in the chart below.

Impairments Identified by I&E Team



The principal challenges to I&E achieving its performance targets

- 2.5.6 As we explained earlier, the challenges to I&E achieving its operational potential are wide ranging and are in many instances inter-related:
 - (i) Lack of functionality and connectivity in IT Systems that makes it challenging to work on and bring together information and documents in a manageable and efficient way. We experienced this directly also in our limited sample case reviews, where we had difficulties in accessing some attachments to emails and observed gaps in evidencing or communicating internally the basis for decision making, for example statements provided to CAT were not transferred to I&E. I&E staff also experienced significant challenges in preparing bundles using the Caselines system. There were also challenges in the time being taken to fully implement redactions in preparation for IDB panels. These IT issues slow work down and create unproductive time to that which individuals spend on cases.
 - (ii) Lack of easy access to knowledge and know-how. Many staff in I&E are relatively new and so need easy-to- access support in the form of well-formed

BSB 110424



guidance documentation, precedent, and the experience and advice of their peers and managers. For the BSB's enforcement work, effective knowledge management is critical to high performance. At present this key area lacks sufficient focus. There are, for example, approaching 40 policy documents with review dates ranging from September 2020 to April 2023 apparently yet to be reviewed, given other priorities, projects and pressures on time.

- (iii) Organisation and sharing of work. Cases are allocated to team members on the basis of skills and experience, and also, more recently, complexity. Once cases are allocated to an individual the expectation is that they remain with that individual until closure, resulting in each individual holding managing a caseload where the cases can be at every stage of the process, from initial review of a CAT referral through to presentation to the Disciplinary Tribunal. This expectation of cases lying with the same individual through the whole life cycle is not in reality always achieved, since long-running cases are in fact re-allocated between staff over time. However, this approach to individuals holding cases at different stages of the process results in work for DT hearings and for IDB hearings, being prioritised by individuals over investigations work and allegations formulation. This produces case progression delay that we believe contributes to more serious and therefore higher risk cases losing momentum. I&E case officers are also distracted from core work through undertaking some tasks, such as filing documents, preparing bundles and liaising with their external counsel which could be undertaken by administrative and paralegal support teams.
- (iv) The management of, and policies under-pinning, inter-actions with respondent barristers that consume substantial amounts of individual's time. Our view is that this time commitment could be reduced which in turn would free resources.
- (v) The lack of clarity in respect of what constitutes effective triage by CAT.
- 2.5.7 This raises two issues:
 - (i) There is a different interpretation between CAT and I&E over what constitutes the correct level of triage prior to a referral and, in our limited sample case reviews we saw several cases where there were very divergent views as to risk, cases rated "Amber" or "Red" by CAT were sent back to be downgraded to "Green". This difference in subjective assessment of risk, the application of overrides on the risk assessment and sufficiency of inquiry is leading to too many instances of referrals moving back and forth between the two teams. Some of the difficulties experienced are the result of CAT not having final responsibility for the "acceptance" decision which currently sits with I&E. We consider that it is an internal BSB policy rather than regulations (or any legislative requirement) that results in CAT taking responsibility only for "recommending" while I&E take responsibility for "accepting".
 - (ii) The acceptance test is more complex than in many regulators, who usually accept reports that raise a question as to whether the regulated person has committed



professional misconduct (or some other type of breach), with an element considering whether this is potentially "sufficiently serious".

- 2.5.8 The results of our case audit have exposed how the issues and challenges we explain above unfold in examples of case management. We should underline that the issues we identify below are systemically driven rather than being down to the competence or otherwise of any individuals. These include:
 - (i) Instances of premature allegations drafting, and also inconsistencies between different team members over when allegations drafting should best be started. To avoid an immediate response from a barrister subject to an investigation for the details of what they are alleged to have done it appears that members of the I&E team will often move to draft allegations at the outset of their investigation. We understand that they are seeking to provide precision at the point of notifying the barrister. However, they can then find that they lack the evidence to prepare the exact allegations, creating delay in communication. In the eight cases we sampled the barrister was first contacted and provided with the allegation between 123 and 563 days after the report had been received by CAT (with a mean of 359 days - approximately one year). The BSB's current policy (LED04) anticipates "Summary Sheets" being sent rather than allegations, but it also refers to the potential breaches of the Core Duties or parts of the Handbook being identified. In addition to delaying notification, the current approach of crafting precise allegations too early may constrain open-minded investigation and also impedes the IDB who would like some latitude (within the bounds of fairness) in relation to the allegations referred.
 - (ii) **Investigations prioritisation**. Whilst it is difficult to extrapolate from our small and historic case samples it was not evident that "red" risk cases were allocated any additional focus, such as weekly or fortnightly review.
 - (iii) **Investigations may need better planning**. The need for witness statements was not always identified early in the investigation, or a complete enough set of materials was not obtained from Family proceedings.
 - (iv) Witnesses may need earlier and better engagement. A lack of prompt witness engagement resulted in difficulties subsequently obtaining contemporaneous file notes from them or securing their attention for finalising a statement. Guidance on working with witnesses (LED27) proposes updates regularly and at least every 6 weeks, compliance with this policy is hampered by lack of early identification of witnesses and case management prompts.
 - (v) Tension between adopting neutrality during investigations and then switching to a more adversarial role if cases are referred to DT. Case officers handle a case from allocation/acceptance through the various processes described above to the conclusion of a case. When investigating cases an "open mind" is required to be receptive to conflicting evidence that may lead to decisions to close cases or to reduce the scale of allegations. However, once a case is referred for an interim order or the substantive DT, attitudes and approaches need to alter to ensure that

case presentation is more than "neutral" and instead advocates to prove the charges, and to seek an appropriate sanction. In this respect, BTAS feedback also noted a lack of recognition and ownership within the I&E team of their responsibility as the regulator to ensure cases were listed, presented and outcomes were reached in a timely manner.

The views of Barrister Respondents

- 2.5.9 It was important for the Project to understand the BSB's assessment and enforcement processes from the point of view of Barrister respondents. Through the BSB, 79 barristers who had recently been subject to BSB assessment and enforcement procedures were approached in confidence for comment. Their anonymous views and comments were based upon a structured survey. In all, we received just ten responses, 13 per cent of those who were approached.
- 2.5.10 The number of replies against those asked to participate in the survey, and in the context of the much wider group of barristers that have been subject to aspects of the BSB enforcement process is not sufficient in number for us to reach any substantive conclusion as to whether the responses were representative of the general feelings of barristers who had been through the BSB process.
- 2.5.11 Nonetheless, it was very helpful to receive some comments and responses from this group. Some were generally satisfied with the overall process whilst others (a majority) were not. Amongst the group several points emerged that are worthy of further consideration by the BSB.
 - (i) It appeared that a number of those subject to the enforcement process were less than clear over how the process worked and would have welcomed more advice;
 - (ii) Most respondents sought to deal with the case themselves, whilst a minority sought support from another barrister.
 - (iii) There was general dissatisfaction with the time it took to progress cases. Barrister's responses on time to complete ranged from less than six months to as much as two years. The number of respondents is small but their dissatisfaction with time taken is in contrast with opinion in the I&E team and also at BTAS that there is a tendency (unquantified) amongst barrister respondents to string out cases.
 - (iv) Also there was substantial dissatisfaction over communication as to the progress of the case and what the next steps would be.

In summary, the collective impact of a number of impairments puts the I&E team under substantive pressure in respect of moving cases efficiently and effectively through the system. This means that they are not being effective in facilitating the taking of robust, timely, consistent and sound decisions.

2.6 Independent review and quality of investigations

- 2.6.1 Independent reviews are regarded by the BSB as an important way of identifying that correct decisions are arrived at. Our remit did not extend to an independent review of the quality of decision taking. However, we did explore how the independent reviews dovetailed into the enforcement processes. Historically, the largest number of reviews related to challenges made to CAT decisions to dismiss reports. The BSB has now concluded that the scale of such reviews was unnecessary, offered little if any value-add, and was time consuming.
- 2.6.2 Independent Reviews can occur in two ways. First, where independent "ad hoc" reviews are called for by respondent barristers or Reporters at key decision stages. In these cases, results show that, in the great majority of cases the end decision of the BSB is upheld. Second, scheduled reviews of cases are undertaken every quarter that are not driven by an external request but are, in practice, a form of decision audit. In the great majority of cases, we were told that the decision was upheld as correct. However, in the absence of a major case review exercise, we are not in a position to draw conclusions over the overall quality of work being undertaken even if the end decision can be supported as being the right outcome.
- 2.6.3 In November 2023 the BSB issued a new external facing Policy and Operational Guidance on "Reviews of regulatory decisions and the role of the Independent Reviewers" (BSB28) which is an important stage in further clarifying and explaining the role and powers of IRs, making clear what can trigger a review, which decisions can be reviewed and that IRs make recommendations to the person with the power to make the decision. We think this revised Policy and Operational Guidance will help to manage expectations of those who seek an independent review, and it reflects and supports the approach taken not to refer so many CAT closures to the IRs. IRs can only make non-binding recommendations. They do not have the power to take or re-take decisions in individual cases as their role sits outside the BSB Regulations. The relevant Head or Director (or where applicable IDB) is responsible for deciding whether to accept IR recommendations. lf a recommendation is not accepted then that decision must be recorded in writing with reasons. We noted that their "independence" means that IRs do not create any direct inputs on the CMS system and we consider it important that their involvement, recommendations and resulting decision should be clearly evident on the CMS system.
- 2.6.4 We identified a lack of clarity as to whether the IR review process provides an assurance of the quality of an investigation (rather than the decision). There is an important focus as to whether the decision taken should be upheld or revised and the amended BSB28 guidance mentioned above, and LED 34, focus on the decision taken. Revised operational Guidance (BSB04) covers quality assurance audits and sets out such audits are to provide assurance that decisions taken under delegated authority are being taken efficiently and effectively in line with relevant policies and procedures and performance indicators and that cases are being handled appropriately. For audit and ad hoc review purposes therefore, it is an important input to better ways of working that IRs should be reviewing the quality of the investigation including matters of timeliness and avoidable delay; that no further information could have been gathered; that the case has been handled fairly, appropriately and in an open transparent and accessible manner; and in



accordance with the BSB's values and the applicable aims and objectives. Our understanding is that comments on these matters are included in file assessment forms and audit spreadsheets.

2.7 The Independent Decision-making Body (IDB)

- 2.7.1 We reviewed how the IDB was scheduled and its processes for handing the allegations submitted to it. We interviewed the chair of the IDB, surveyed the views of its members (barristers and lay), and interviewed the Regulatory Panel Manager.
- 2.7.2 We noted that the scheduling of panel sessions works well and that there is little evidence that availability of panel members and scheduling arrangements lead to any significant delays in the enforcement processes.
- 2.7.3 We understand that the IDB comprises a good mix of individuals, with members willing to express their views and opinions. Members have a strong feel for enforcement issues and are familiar with relevant processes. Communication about relevant matters is timely and of appropriate frequency.
- 2.7.4 We noted in particular that the panels worked well recently under the accelerated procedures, but that proposals were in train for their modification. (We understand that revised procedures incorporating many of the accelerated procedures have now been recently agreed with the IDB). Remote hearings were reported to have worked efficiently and effectively for members. However, it was expressed that training in-person should be encouraged or made mandatory to foster greater opportunity for face-to-face discussion, as opposed to attending online that might mean that some attendees were less inclined to participate.
- 2.7.5 The panels conduct self-assessments that we consider to be a very effective and useful way of self-reflection leading to opportunities for continuous improvement.
- 2.7.6 It is to be expected that there will be a reasonable amount of liaising between panel members and the I&E team over certain cases and bundles, but we did not see this activity as over-bearing. However, one common factor of irritation (shared by both the IDB and the I&E team) lies in the issues surrounding the accurate translation of files into Caselines so that they remain clearly and accurately referenced.
- 2.7.7 Comments from IDB panel members were that allegations could seem repetitive, imprecise or poorly worded that in turn could result in members remitting allegations back to I&E for clarification or simplification. The IDB panel members also made the point that it would be of considerable benefit if Rules could be changed (reE19) to enable the panels to add or modify allegations as they assessed cases. This appears to be a reasonable proposal but any such change would require an assessment of the full benefits and potential consequences of so doing, one of which is likely to be how fairness in the process is ensured for the person who has responded to the allegations.



- 2.7.8 IDB panel members also reported that the current system of drafting decisions posthearing is much more efficient than the previous system of dictating decisions during meetings. However, their view was that the process could still benefit from being improved upon further, which would help with both clarity of timescales to return drafts and a consistent approach to drafting.
- 2.7.9 Panel members reported frequent issues with redaction of material within the bundles; this ranged from members reporting 20-30 per cent of papers or cases not being fully redacted or raising issues related to redaction. We are aware that redactions are a necessary but time-consuming exercise intended to reduce unconscious biases. Whilst the principle of redacting to create anonymous decision making is seen by many as best practice, its value can be lost if it is not done thoroughly resulting in missed redactions and inadvertent mention of names. The BSB should explore what technology solutions might assist in this exercise and what would be needed to achieve full compliance in the redaction exercise.

2.8 The Disciplinary Tribunal and BTAS

The Disciplinary Tribunal needs better support to improve the efficiency and effectiveness of its hearing process having been unable to meet deadlines in 50% of cases.

Performance data is difficult to access and the Disciplinary Tribunal has no case management IT.

The Tribunal members are experienced and appointed on the basis of competencies, providing tribunals which are fit for purpose, but frustrated by a lack of more structured case management and listing arrangements.

BTAS' Strategic Advisory Board (SAB) is a source of advice, support and challenge to BTAS but it is not a directional board and does not impose a line of accountability, which may make it difficult for BTAS to achieve change.

Once referred to the Disciplinary Tribunal cases should be largely ready for hearing. They should be listed and heard promptly, to ensure compliance with the BSB's regulatory objectives.

- 2.8.1 BTAS and the Tribunal Chair are frustrated over the challenges to their ability to deliver the key objective of processing cases efficiently and effectively. Cases that result in tribunal hearings are, by definition, the most serious of those processed by the BSB, and it is therefore very important that they are dealt with in an efficient and timely manner. In practice, there are several impediments in the way.
- 2.8.2 We interviewed the current Chair of the Tribunal, BTAS staff, and conducted a survey of tribunal members, as well as addressing BSB and BTAS interactions through interviews,



workshops and surveys of the BSB's I&E staff and management. We also reviewed helpful analysis submitted by BTAS.

- 2.8.3 The target time taken to reach a Tribunal final determination is set at 6 months (183 days) from receipt of first directions. However, a recent survey of cases conducted by BTAS using both BTAS and BSB data shows that both this target, and the overall BSB target of 18 months (558 days) from first acceptance of a report, are not being consistently achieved.
- 2.8.4 The BTAS survey of cases, which we have reviewed, analysed the 67 cases coming before the Tribunal from July 2020 to November 2022. The analysis shows that:
 - (i) some 50 per cent of DT cases did not receive a final determination within the target of six months (183 days) from receipt of first directions;
 - (ii) some 80 per cent of cases did not meet BSB's end-to-end target of 558 days (approximately 18 months);
 - (iii) some 30 per cent of cases took over 12 months to progress through DT;
 - (iv) some 60 per cent of the cases which took longer than 6 months were adjourned at least once;
 - (v) some 25 per cent of those cases were adjourned part-heard.
- 2.8.5 BSB Rules (rE102 and rE103) provide for a ten-week period between referral (usually by the IDB) before the BSB must serve the charge on the respondent barrister. Only at that point is the case officially notified to BTAS. There is then a requirement on the BSB to serve its evidence and suggest its proposed directions "as soon as practicable" and usually within 28 days, but this may be longer if this is explained to the respondent barrister. The regulations then expect the BSB and the respondent barrister to agree directions within a 35-day period. Only after this period, if it has not been possible to agree directions, can the BSB ask BTAS for the involvement of a Directions Judge. If oral directions hearings are required these may take at least six to eight weeks to schedule. Although not required in every case, this "pre-directions" stage can take more than 6 months between referral and directions being issued.
- 2.8.6 Once directions have been deemed accepted (in the absence of any response from the barrister), agreed between the BSB and the barrister or ordered by a Directions Judge, both parties (the BSB and the barrister) must submit details of their availability for the substantive DT hearing to BTAS. Once BTAS have availability details (or the deadline for providing them expires) BTAS will fix the date of the substantive hearing, having regard to:
 - (i) the availability of the parties (if provided);
 - (ii) "the need for the prompt determination of any charges" according to Regulation rE130 which we interpret to mean having regard to the public interest and the wider interest in the case determination not being delayed.


2.8.7 Our sample of case investigation work showed an example where the BSB was unable to serve its evidence on the barrister, because it was continuing to investigate, so the stage of seeking to agree directions was delayed. It took a year from IDB decision to refer allegations until the BSB sought non-standard directions from BTAS because it was only at this point the BSB had served its evidence and moved to try to agree directions, which did not prove possible. It then took a further three weeks for the directions to be issued by a Directions Judge.

The Root Causes of the problem

- 2.8.8 Addressing the major impediments standing in the way of a more effective Disciplinary Tribunal operation include:
 - developing a greater imperative for co-operation between the BSB and BTAS so that the case load can be more efficiently managed through the Tribunal process as a whole. Our understanding is that regular meetings between the two bodies tend to address operational challenges within the context of the present practices but do not seek to address more fundamental, long-standing structural issues and frustrations;
 - changes to the Regulations which would give BTAS greater authority in respect of setting directions. This would include requiring greater accountability from BSB and the respondent barristers in meeting BTAS requirements in terms of the parties having to comply with the expected timetable or seek permission and approval if deadlines cannot be met;
 - (iii) mitigating the challenges posed by frequent adjournments, both before hearings and as a result of cases being part heard. In particular convening, and recalling, five-person panels is time consuming and causes added delay, given the challenge of aligning busy diaries across five individuals. The areas to address include;
 - (A) improved time estimates for hearings being obtained from the BSB and respondent barristers and reviewed by BTAS;
 - (B) mitigating and reducing the impact of delaying tactics by respondents by imposing clearer expectations about compliance with a directions timetable;
 - (C) working to create a more effective case management environment so that both the I&E team in the BSB and BTAS could work in tandem to better drive cases through the process;
 - (iv) improving BTAS access to and use of IT. At present, all substantive inter-actions between BTAS and the BSB are managed by email or even by preparing and posting files, rather than through a case management system (such as Caselines). The lack of IT slows down the process and unnecessarily consumes resources.



Impairments to collaboration and co-operation

- 2.8.9 We recognise that it is important to maintain clear and evident separation between the BSB's enforcement functions and BTAS. However, this separation also risks creating an accountability or authority vacuum. In turn that impairs, for example, BTAS' ability to identify and resolve issues that may be impeding efficiency and effectiveness of hearings.
- 2.8.10 A contributing factor also seems to lie in clarity over the accountability lines of BTAS and also how the Tribunal, BTAS and the BSB are jointly held accountable for achieving the overarching professional regulatory goals.
- 2.8.11 The governance and accountability arrangements that apply to BTAS and the Tribunal could benefit from greater role clarity. On behalf of the President of the Council of the Inns of Court (COIC), BTAS is responsible for appointing and administering Disciplinary Tribunals and other panels. Since the enactment of the Legal Services Act the BSB has had responsibility for the disciplinary arrangements for barristers and, since 2013, has had a service level agreement with COIC relating to the Enforcement Regulations services BTAS now provides under Parts 5B (The Disciplinary Tribunal Regulations), 5D (Interim Suspension and Disqualification) and Part 5E (Fitness to Practise Regulations) of the Handbook.
- 2.8.12 BTAS is been funded by the Inns of Court at a cost of approximately £500,000 per year. In the future, it is proposed that it will be funded to approximately £600,000 per year with the BSB bearing 50% of these costs and the Inns of Court the balance.
- 2.8.13 Also, the agreement between the BSB and COIC relating to the provision of BTAS and DT services would be more valuable were it to be clear in relation to where responsibility lay for case progression and management during the DT stage between the BSB and BTAS. The current service agreement also does not include provisions for effective oversight and performance management. There is therefore a resulting lack of accountability for deficiencies at the Disciplinary Tribunal stage.

It is reported that there is a culture of non-compliance by many respondent barristers in respect of directions agreed with the BSB or issued by Directions Judges at the start of the hearing stage. This could be mitigated by greater use of existing enforcement powers.

Reducing Adjournments and Deferrals

- 2.8.14 Because of a lack of clarity in the Regulations and in the agreement as to where responsibility and authority rests, there is a lack of co-ordinated and proactive case management being undertaken by either the BSB or BTAS at the hearing stage to ensure the prompt setting of, and compliance with, directions.
- 2.8.15 This is exacerbated since the Tribunal panels do not appear to be making extensive use of, or reference to, the existing powers available to them in Part 5 of the BSB Handbook which could be used to reinforce expectations that directions can and must be complied



with. The Handbook includes for example a regulation ((rE168) that contains the power to exclude evidence or draw adverse inferences for failure to comply with directions. Another regulation (E244) provides a broad costs power which could be used when unnecessary costs have been incurred as a result of non-compliance. There is also a Core Duty 9 in the BSB Handbook which requires a barrister to co-operate with the BSB and Rule C64 requires the prompt provision of information so that the BSB can undertake its regulatory functions.

- 2.8.16 What is required is that:
 - (i) directions are swiftly put in place once a hearing has been referred to the Disciplinary Tribunal;
 - (ii) all those engaged at this stage of the process see the directions as sacrosanct and to be complied with;
 - (iii) requests to revise the directions timetable by more than a very short period should be considered by BTAS and variations should always be justified;
 - (iv) the pattern of multiple applications for directions being made and opposed by respondents and the BSB needs to be addressed. Repeated directions hearings extend the timetable before the case is ready to be listed for the substantive hearing. BTAS need to be able to deal with applications promptly and to encourage all issues requiring directions to be identified at the earliest opportunity;
 - (v) the existing requirements on barristers and the potential sanctions for failing to comply with directions, should be routinely referenced in all directions to emphasise the expectation of compliance;
 - (vi) where directions are not complied with, it appears that there is currently insufficient resource time available promptly to follow up on non-compliance. As a result the parties may perceive that compliance is not closely monitored and non-compliance with directions may appear to be tolerated by the Disciplinary Tribunal. Greater use of powers requiring cooperation and imposing consequences, promptly where possible, for non-compliance would also support a culture of compliance and timeliness;
 - (vii) there should be a standard direction for time estimates to be agreed or reviewed by a Directions Judge before a listing is finalised. Inadequate attention to efficient case management often leads to the issues between the parties not being clarified ahead of the final hearing. In particular it appears that the time estimates for substantive hearings are often too short. As a result of this, a significant proportion of contested hearings are adjourned before they start. or are adjourned part-heard, due to insufficient time estimates.
- 2.8.17 The issues of delay and lengthy hearings are considered to be compounded by the BSB's over-complex and repetitive approach to charge drafting (a point expanded upon below).



- 2.8.18 There is a particular issue relating to the constitution of panels which compounds delay in some adjournment situations. Although, once the panel attached to a particular case has been convened, there is an ability to substitute members before the hearing commences, once the Charge is read, if the case is then adjourned the same members are expected to reconvene, often resulting in a significant delay before the same panel can be reconvened for further hearing dates. The regulations (rE-150) provide that a panel can reduce to four or three members but there is no provision for replacement members. The delays resulting from late adjournments are clearly worse for five person panels as more individuals must be simultaneously available for new dates. Delays are also caused as a result of a regulation (rE211) that requires a three-person tribunal to refer a case to a five person tribunal for sanction if it considers the case may warrant the more severe sanctions available under rulerE210, such as disbarment or a suspension of longer than 12 month).
- 2.8.19 Delay impacts the BSB's and BTAS's regulatory objectives, especially in respect of risk management.

Interim Orders

- 2.8.20 It appears that Interim Orders are very rarely applied for by the BSB. Also, the Tribunal had no power to impose an Interim Order during an adjournment even after an admission of breach by the barrister. (This particular issue will be resolved in the proposed amendments to the Regulations are agreed by the LSB and added as rE202A-F).
- 2.8.21 The limited use of interim orders is another factor contributing to a culture of noncompliance and delay, simply because it reduces the incentive for the respondent barrister to progress towards a final hearing. Again, a change to the Regulations has been approved by the Board which may increase applications for and making of interim orders when the amended Regulations are adopted.

Case Presentation

- 2.8.22 DT members report that the quality of electronic and paper bundles provided to the panels could in some cases be improved. Members considered that there was unnecessary duplication of materials and that panellists would be aided by better indexing, and search functions for electronic documents. Some proposed standard structuring of bundles would assist.
- 2.8.23 The standard of case presentation on behalf of the BSB during the hearings is reported by Tribunal panel members to be good. Feedback from the Tribunal's panel members confirms that the panel members consider that the nature of the cases reaching the DT stage appears to be right with the great majority of the cases reaching the Tribunal stage are recognised to be serious.
- 2.8.24 We have not examined the quality of final decision making by the Tribunal with appeals and litigation being out of scope of this review.





BTAS Support

- 2.8.25 BTAS is now supported by an administrator and by a recently appointed "Registrar and Head of Administration" who reports to the "COIC Director". Tribunal panels are clerked usually by junior barristers appointed on a case-by-case basis.
- 2.8.26 BTAS does not have its own case management system and relies on the BSB for information about its case load.

BSB Paper 024 (24) Part 1 - Public

3. Recommendations



3. Recommendations

In this section we summarise our key recommendations for change. In the sections that then follow we elaborate on those recommendations in turn to address:

- The benefits they offer;
- The options in respect of their implementation

In many areas our recommendations for change could be achieved in a number of different ways. It is, however, important that the principle behind the change recommendation is addressed whilst it is open to the BSB and BTAS to determine how best to take forward the implementation of these recommendations.

3.1 Focus on delivering an effective end-to-end enforcement process

Create a senior executive role that will take full responsibility for the effectiveness and continuous improvement of the end-to-end enforcement process.

Benefits

3.1.1 Currently no single Director in BSB (below the Director General) currently owns the endto-end responsibility for effective and efficient enforcement, including the effective contribution of BTAS and the Tribunal. Bringing this responsibility into a single role would mean that one individual held direct and personal accountability for performance and was therefore highly motivated to deliver against plans and targets, and constantly to seek ways and means of addressing challenges and of delivering continuous improvement. The impact on performance would be very substantial.

Commentary

- 3.1.2 The first management point in the current BSB management structure where any individual has responsibility for the BSB's total enforcement processes is the Director General. Also, there appears to be no obvious body or person that accepts responsibility for the total process including the performance of entities beyond the BSB's boundaries.
- 3.1.3 This results in lost opportunities for change through an absence of clear leadership and advocacy. It is therefore very important to the continuing success and improvement of the end-to-end enforcement process that there is a clear individual owner, who would sit within the BSB and deliver this remit.



- 3.1.4 There are several options (or combinations of options) open to the BSB in addressing this challenge:
 - (i) Revert to the pre 2019 arrangements where assessment functions sat with the predecessor to LED under the leadership of a Director;
 - (ii) Form a joint cross-departmental task group that would be the focal point for the design and implementation of better working and performance (including BTAS);
 - (iii) Create a "single owner" with responsibility for the success of the end-to-end processes (but without direct line-management responsibilities) who would have the power and status to interact with current Directors and BTAS to drive change.
- 3.1.5 It is for the senior leadership of the BSB to determine the most effective and practical way of designing such a model, and to determine how the positives and negatives would balance out. However, in reaching a conclusion on the optimal model, the following considerations need to apply, including:
 - (i) fully assessing the wider organisational implications of recombining the assessment function with the enforcement function, as a part return to the arrangements that were in place prior to the implementation of the 2019 reforms;
 - (ii) recognition that the success of the BSB also depends substantially on the effective working of the Disciplinary Tribunal and BTAS, whilst acknowledging BTAS' independence and ability to make decisions free from interference. And there are other bodies such as the Legal Ombudsman who can also be contributors to, for example, a better public understanding of the BSB's core mission as a regulator, so that less resource needs to be committed on addressing matters and individuals' aspirations that fall outside the BSB's remit. So it is important that the BSB actively embraces a "life cycle" responsibility that reaches outside its organisational boundaries and also gets the best out of collaborative working between different departments within the BSB.
 - (iii) Exploring whether an opportunity exists to introduce a form of "matrix management" where responsibility for the overall success of individual functions could be held by a senior member of the leadership. This post would act as a point of co-ordination and performance delivery in collaboration with those responsible for operational management in separate functional areas. the current hierarchical structure that the BSB employs across its operational areas. This would mean a shift in the current BSB operating model.
- 3.1.6 Whatever solution fits best with the BSB's operating model, the four core leadership responsibilities of the leader would be to:
 - ensure and improve the effective delivery of the BSB's risk-based enforcement strategy from the initial receipt of information through to intermediate closures or final determination at the Disciplinary Tribunal;



BSB 110424

- (ii) co-ordinate and manage through the programme of change agreed by the Board in the light of this report (a role that could equally be performed by a separate implementation project leader);
- deliver stronger alignment and co-operation within the BSB (for example with Supervision) and with third parties, for example the Legal Ombudsman the Bar Council; the COIC; legal consumer bodies, and other legal sector regulators to promote more efficient and effective enforcement;
- (iv) contribute to better understanding and acceptance amongst members of the public of the BSB's role.
- 3.1.7 Below we set out a schematic representation showing the potential range of management and influence that would be required to deliver the role.



BSB 110424



3.2 Achieve best-in-class knowledge management

Build a "best-in-class" knowledge management environment.

Benefits

3.2.1 Currently the BSB assessment and enforcement teams struggle to find and apply knowledge and know-how in the most effective way. A structured and well-defined approach to building a best-in-class knowledge management environment will enable the assessment and the investigations and enforcement teams to: work more efficiently and effectively; improve on process times; take better and more sound decisions; and provide a platform for individuals' skills and knowledge development and thereby support career development, recruitment and retention.

Commentary

- 3.2.2 Access to and application of knowledge and know how is a core contributor to effective and efficient regulatory enforcement.
- 3.2.3 We concluded in our findings that there were very significant impairments to knowledge management in the BSB. It is very important that the BSB prioritises the enhancement of this area of its capabilities.
- 3.2.4 Really effective knowledge management is a critical enabler of the BSB's enforcement performance. In the context of this project, we define better knowledge management as resulting from a set of inter-linked recommendations that need to be addressed as a change programme:
 - Having a complete set of up-to-date, well-articulated documents that provide enforcement and assessment teams with the knowledge they need to deliver their work;
 - (ii) Ensuring easy-to-navigate systems accessibility to relevant information as it is required;
 - (iii) Providing effective and thorough induction to new joiners;
 - (iv) Ensuring up-to-date policies are accessible via the website to provide barristers and other stakeholders with sufficient information to anticipate and understand BSB approaches to processes and decision making;
 - Ensuring continuing knowledge development (including key legal updates but also wider embedding of BSB processes) occurs across teams (both CAT and I&E);



- (vi) Delivering regular opportunities for knowledge and know-how sharing between individuals that would support wider knowledge acquisition and also case specific issue sharing and advice;
- (vii) Building a team culture where knowledge development and knowledge share is seen as of high value;
- 3.2.5 To design and deliver this extensive change programme, we recommend that the BSB appoints an experienced individual to deliver the knowledge management function. Potentially an individual who would have worked in a professional services provider or another regulator. Once the changes are bedded in, it may be that workload becomes more process than project focused, in which case, the time commitment might be reduced, the role-holder could accept wider, similar responsibilities and might work with a broader team to support this key function.

3.3 Enhance how IT systems better support performance

Improve communication and collaboration between the CAT and I&E teams and the BSB's IT function so as to quickly build and roll out an achievable near-term plan to enhance the system/process interfaces so that CAT and I&E can work more effectively.

Benefits

3.3.1 Perceived failings in IT functionality and application to work processes are identified by staff as the leading impairment to effective working. The benefits of delivering an evolutionary approach to enhancing IT support for staff will result in: higher productivity as measured by less time being wasted and therefore more time being applied to key work priorities; reducing the reliance on knowledgeable individuals in the team; less frustration amongst staff and therefore better morale and retention; and improved opportunities to achieve KPI targets.

Commentary

- 3.3.2 Fit-for-purpose IT systems are critical to the BSB's ability to perform its enforcement functions. As is people's ability to use those systems to their potential in support of their work. As we explained in Section 2, our findings are that issues staff currently experience in using the core IT systems are a source of delay, frustration, wasting of valuable work time, and potentially a factor in undermining morale, with wider consequences in respect of longer-term retention and development of talent.
- 3.3.3 Our project remit did not include a detailed review of the BSB's IT systems and their usage. However, we understand that the provision of technology services at the BSB has seen substantive change since the reorganisation in 2019 and that this change progresses. We



fully support this work in progress that continues to need commitment, prioritisation and effective funding.

- 3.3.4 The BSB (and the General Council of the Bar) were subject to a highly disruptive cyberattack in April 2022 that resulted in a programme of recovery, remediation, and rebuilding resilience in the technology environment. Subsequently, a report by Grant Thornton in summer 2022 made several recommendations for change including:
 - (i) migrating systems to cloud-based hosting;
 - (ii) creating a cyber security officer role in the organisation;
 - (iii) introducing regular risk governance and reporting frameworks into the organisation for cyber security;
 - (iv) revisiting business continuity and disaster recovery plans for the organisation.
- 3.3.5 A further review was undertaken by Deloitte in February 2023 of Case Management and CRM systems. The key recommendations of the report were to enhance the business support potential of these key applications by:
 - migrating to cloud hosting (recently implemented by moving from on-premises 2016 Dynamics CRM to cloud-hosted Dynamics 365). This has also created greater potential and flexibility to deliver future change and improvement;
 - (ii) appointing a solution owner that would enable more focused identification and delivery of benefits;
 - (iii) simplifying process and architecture;
 - (iv) introducing more structured change management;
 - (v) empowering the CRM support team which would lead to more effective interaction between those responsible for IT and the user community.
- 3.3.6 In parallel, a quarterly release plan has been agreed that is intended to take user-group input into change and development processes to ensure greater alignment with change priorities in the organisation.
- 3.3.7 To support these projects and other activity, a technology trainer has been recruited into the organisation. In our view this is a crucial development in helping staff fully develop their capability to get the best out of current systems. Also, we understand that a project is in train to revise and improve all existing user documentation; create a training hub on the intranet site for this and other user materials; and to deliver comprehensive and team-specific training to all CRM users in the organisation. A new approach to regular and less formal change communications has also been piloted.



3.3.8 A restructure of the technology group has been proposed, to reflect the changing dynamic in the provision of technology to the organisation. A solution architect has been appointed and will play a key role in developing and implementing an overall architecture based on agreed principles.

Moving Forward

- 3.3.9 Following the enforcement process review, a programme of work will be required to implement any changes required. In general terms, we support the BSB's proposals as to how such a change programme should be addressed that would include:
 - (i) establishing the principles for architecture redesign. These should focus on: simplicity of process and architecture - a single case management solution focussed on the complaint and the respondent to better support the team handling the case; a focus on configuration over coding; a willingness to challenge legacy ways of working; and the ability to support the solution internally amongst users and others.
 - (ii) collating and review of current state documentation, so as to understand how things work currently and to baseline the change process.
 - (iii) developing a future state architecture based on the various inputs outlined in the process review.
 - (iv) agreeing a programme of development work and change activity to implement the future state architecture.
 - (v) sustainable delivery of functionality, along with change activity to users.
 - (vi) embedding regular support following change delivery.
- 3.3.10 It is important that the requirements of BTAS and the need for smooth and effective interfaces between the BSB and BTAS are part of this work.

3.4 Clarify the BSB's role and responsibilities to members of the public and to Reporters

Make clear the BSB's core responsibilities to members of the public who submit reports and therefore provide key intelligence that supports its regulatory responsibilities

Benefits

3.4.1 The key benefits include: a better understanding by the public who provide information to the BSB of the boundaries of BSB's role and what the BSB can realistically do so that



expectations are better managed; less complaints and challenge handling; potentially the receipt of fewer reports that do not meet the BSB's assessment criteria; sustaining public confidence in the value of reporting; less work pressure on the CAT team and therefore greater focus on those assessments that are key to good risk-based regulation.

Commentary

- 3.4.2 It is important that the BSB implements a number of changes in the way it communicates and inter-acts with the public, to: improve the way that the BSB is understood by those who submit reports; to deliver the updates and progress that reporters have been led to expect; and so as to reduce unnecessary work pressure in CAT. This includes:
 - (i) clarifying policies over the BSB's responsibilities to and interactions with Reporters so that staff have a clear set of guidelines to work to: in particular over the definition of reasonable and proportionate updates and correspondence dependent on the context of a given assessment or case. For example, where successful appeals against sanctions are made (that would not otherwise be publicly available) determine the most appropriate way of communicating this in particular to Reporters;
 - (ii) improving the information provided on the website as that is the first and predominant point of contact with the public. This should include very clear statements covering: the role of the regulator, how information provided is used, and what reporters can realistically expect by way of acknowledgement, updates and outcomes; the need for such improved clarity for the public should also be reflected in any future review of the BSB handbook;
 - (iii) introducing better on-line forms that can filter out and block the submission of many reports that are not appropriate for initial assessment (and that also puts limits on the scale of supporting documentation submitted);
 - (iv) clearer responses to information provision as to what will happen next, setting expectations about when/whether a reporter will be updated and distinguishing where such providers are potentially going to be required to make statements or provide other further evidence;
 - (v) ensuring that chambers and practising barristers send the same messages and so have up to date guidance, paper and electronic, that can be provided to members of the public to explain how they can best take forward matters of concern and complaints that they believe have not been addressed fully through the client relationship;
 - (vi) undertaking an annual survey of Reporters that is focused on collecting precise and actionable responses that can contribute to continuous service improvement. We understand that the BSB is planning the introduction of a cross-BSB running survey. Our view is that the value of periodic surveys is that they can be tailored to fit evolving and changing issues, concerns and needs for information. And thereby inform, for example annual reviews and planning rounds.



3.5 Improving CAT performance

Improve CAT performance, so as to achieve the current time based KPI for processing assessments, through a number of operational interventions, some of which had already been identified by the Executive and some of which are currently being implemented.

Benefits

3.5.1 As CAT is the entry point for conduct reports and the primary initiator of enforcement activity, the changes proposed will improve the BSB's ability to meet the CAT KPI target but also its other key KPI in respect of achieving the time target for the end-to-end enforcement process. Benefits should also accrue in respect of better inter-action with public reporters leading to higher satisfaction with the BSB's processing of reports. Also the changes will have a positive impact on stress and morale amongst staff.

Commentary

- 3.5.2 CAT's complete role sits outside our remit, so we are not able to take a view on CAT's wider activities other than those related to I&E. As we have explained, a number of issues have impacted CAT's ability to perform in respect of its role in the enforcement process.
- 3.5.3 In respect of CAT's ability to deliver a smooth and high-quality flow of assessment work relevant to enforcement, we recommend the following in addition to the changes already being implemented:
 - Implement the public facing changes explained in section 3.5 above. This will help both manage demand and also enable Assessment Officers to spend more time on report assessment;
 - Create a sustainable and resilient resource pool for CAT so as to remove the impact of churn and unanticipated staff shortages on the team's ability to perform. This will reduce future risk of backlog and KPI breach;
 - (iii) Enhance the senior management presence in the department so that there is adequate resource in place to supervise work, enhance performance, and manage through change;
 - (iv) Clear the current backlog of unassessed reports through creating a short-term team with responsibility to clear the decks within a specified time (under way);
 - (v) Be precise between I&E and CAT over the role of CAT as a preliminary assessment function and what constitutes reasonable evidence and sufficiently high risk to warrant further investigation in I&E;

- (vi) Review the "acceptance" of cases stage with a view to entrusting this to be completed by CAT (having enhanced a collective understanding of the acceptance criteria and knowledge of the Code and Handbook). If risk assessment is still to be included at this stage it will require the production of clearer and more precise guidance to support such risk assessment;
- (vii) Create better and more frequent knowledge-share activities between CAT and I&E teams.
- (viii) Match resource to workload leading to higher probability levels of KPI achievement and no backlog;
- (ix) Introduce changes to the CRM system to provide a more effective, and clear process to make and communicate the preliminary risk assessment;
- (x) Spend less time and resource wasted at the point of hand-over between CAT and I&E.

3.6 Improving Investigations and Enforcement performance

Implement a set of changes in the way that I&E works and is supported that will significantly improve performance. These changes can be implemented as part of a "continuous improvement" programme.

Benefits

3.6.1 The changes, taken as a whole, will show that the BSB deals with cases as quickly as is consistent with a fair resolution of the case and its obligations to the public. They will improve workflow and reduce the time taken to manage cases through the stages required to reach a final decision, be that dismissal of the allegations or the imposition of sanctions by the team, IDB or the Disciplinary Tribunal. This will result in positive impacts on I&E KPI achievement; BTAS perceptions on BSB efficiency of case management; and also on the wider achievement of the BSB's end-to-end time based KPI. It will contribute to higher staff morale and job satisfaction that will also contribute to better retention and performance improvement.

Commentary

3.6.2 We have identified elsewhere in our recommendations improvements that can be made in systems support and knowledge share to enable the team to work better and smarter.



- 3.6.3 Additional changes to how work is segmented and organised is also a key contributor to improving productivity and delivering higher speed of resolution in case progression. Our principal recommendations are:
 - (i) Reset the nature of communications with barristers where cases are accepted for investigation. Providing them with notification when their case is "accepted" (which might be a CAT decision if recommendations made above are taken forward). Provide only a broad description of the nature of matters under investigation at this stage, explain no response is required (although some barristers will seek to send materials or object at this stage). Review references to the "summary sheet" in guidance document LED04 and consider whether this type of summary would be a useful way of consistently capturing and sharing the nature of the matters under investigation. Defer further detailed engagement with barristers under investigation until investigations are more mature and better definition is possible to enable proper allegations to be developed and shared. This should reduce the interaction time with barristers.
 - (ii) Review the approach to charge-drafting to reduce repetition and focus on specific incidents rather than separate charges for each breach of the Handbook relating to the same incident.
 - (iii) Clarify the role of the BSB representative (the BSB's barrister) in drafting charges. The structure of "charges of professional misconduct" appears to have been influenced by rule rE236 which refers to the BSB being able to appeal against sanction "where one or more charges of professional misconduct have been proved". The enabling legislation (section 24 of the Crime and Courts Act 2013) does not limit the BSB power to appeal in such a precise way so an amendment to the Regulations would further remove the concern about needing very itemised charges/breaches.
 - (iv) Ensure that case investigation plans are sufficiently broad, that they have anticipated areas of evidence that may be required, and that progress is regularly reviewed. A number of key questions should be addressed at the outset, with an opportunity to review and agree these with a senior I&E manager. Early focus should include:
 - (A) Is there likely to be a need for witnesses and to have their contemporaneous documents been secured?
 - (B) Are witness communications being maintained for optimal engagement?
 - (C) If permission is needed for Family Court documents attempts should be made early to agree documents to be sought in a single application to the Judge
 - (D) If expertise is required as to whether conduct may or may not be a breach, usually from an expert in a particular legal specialism – this may need to be prioritised.



- (v) Ensure the I&E team can give case presentation (for IDPs and DTS) the focused resourcing it requires without investigations work having to take a lower priority, possibly by having some team members focused on case presentation tasks and others on investigations.
- (vi) Ensure metrics are in place so that progress on high-risk cases is effectively monitored and that interventions to speed up progress are made where needed.

3.7 The Independent Decision-making Body

Only modest change needs to be put in place for the IDB which works well. Give the IDB more freedom to shape and determine its procedures and ways of working while remaining an integral part of the BSB.

Benefits

3.7.1 The proposed recommendations will enable the IDB to continue on a trajectory of effective and efficient working.

Commentary

- 3.7.2 As we explained in our findings, the IDB functions well.
- 3.7.3 We recommend that the BSB gives the IDB greater authority to shape its work as it sees fit so as to best deliver its remit. For example, it should be for the IDB to determine its procedures (for example which of the accelerated procedures to drop and which to keep and evolve as has already been done).
- 3.7.4 There should also be a form of IDB "charter" drafted that identifies how the IDB is expected to contribute to the overall efficiency and success of the enforcement process, both from the perspective of how it manages its workload and through to the powers it should have that enable it to make the most timely and effective decisions. It should also have a clear ability to be able to call I&E to account in terms of support provided, and to have a clear voice in future plans for improvements.



3.8 Enable the efficiency of BTAS and the Disciplinary Tribunal

Improve the effectiveness of BTAS and the Disciplinary Tribunal through a set of changes that will in particular reduce the excessive elapsed time occurring in the management of some of its cases. Deliver better and stronger inter-actions between BTAS and the BSB to help achieve common goals around timeliness (without compromising independence).

Benefits

3.8.1 The principal benefits will accrue in respect of reducing the elapsed time for hearings and also the amount of wasted effort that goes into the management and support of such hearings. That in turn will enable the BSB to better deliver on one of its key objectives, that is to reduce risk to the consumer of legal services by the more expedient imposition of sanctions on those members of the profession that are committing the most serious conduct breaches. Also, speeding the process will reduce stress on members of the profession subject to potential sanction and equally reduce the opportunity for those whose aim is to cause delay, to do so.

Commentary

3.8.2 The impairments to the efficiency of BTAS and the Tribunal can be addressed by effecting change in three areas.

Through:

- Re-defining and clarifying how the BSB and BTAS and the Tribunal can work more effectively at a strategic level to common goals while maintaining the separation and independence of the Tribunal;
- (ii) Removing and mitigating unnecessary delays to case progression during hearings;
- (iii) Improving the support of individual hearings by the BSB, BTAS and the two bodies working together.

Redefining the strategic BSB, BTAS and Tribunal Relationship.

3.8.3 It stands that the BSB must have full accountability for the successful end-to-end delivery of enforcement notwithstanding that the Tribunal and BTAS must maintain freedoms from interference and influence in the delivery of their responsibilities to make sound decisions on the cases that are laid before them. And all parties across the enforcement spectrum must be clear on sharing the responsibility and accountability for performance. We have however not been able to identify a status document that clearly defines the relationship between the parties and how they work together. We recommend that such a document is produced as a basis for ensuring that end to end improvement and evolution occurs.



- 3.8.4 A prerequisite of such an agreement is clarity over the status of the Tribunal, its structure of governance and accountability including the roles and responsibilities of the various bodies that carry obligations for its successful operation. At present, we are not clear over the party with whom the BSB would enter such a commitment. We recommend that this is clarified and we accept that this may not be a simple or quick process.
- 3.8.5 In the short term, we recommend a project to define how the SAB role could be developed so as to underpin its current remit as a conduit for agreeing and implementing change.

Mitigating Delays

- 3.8.6 We explained in our findings that BTAS had very helpfully undertaken a recent analysis into case progression including causes of delay in case progression during hearings. Clearly, the high levels of case delay against targets set are not in anyone's interests, given that the most serious cases arrive at the Tribunal.
- 3.8.7 The causes of delay are well understood. As are many of the remedies. This issue lies in getting to grips with resolving them through a structured form of continuous improvement process. We recommend that, as a matter of priority, a joint BSB and BTAS team is set up to:
 - (i) Confirm the negative impact of delays;
 - (ii) Identify the relative impact, time and cost required to resolve them; and
 - (iii) Prioritise how these will be addressed and within what timescales.
- 3.8.8 Examples of potential tactical changes are included below.

Better Collaborative Working

3.8.9 The BSB and BTAS have a common interest in ensuring effective and efficient case progression. It is important that BTAS fully supports the process through which the BSB decides and implements our recommendation for an individual who would take overall responsibility for ensuring the success of the end-to-end enforcement process.

Potential Areas for Improvement

- 3.8.10 Amend procedural rules relating to directions. All cases to use standard directions, with the scope for parties to agree to vary (but only for a limited number of days (to be defined)) beyond standard directions or for cases to be referred to a Directions Judge (possibly with the need for a hearing) to avoid the BSB feeling pressured to 'negotiate' with the barrister and the agree longer timelines to meet 21-day deadline under Regulation rE106 to have agreed directions.
- 3.8.11 Amended Regulations should provide for limited extensions to be agreed between a respondent barrister and the BSB (up to 14/28 days). Any non-compliance with the initial Directions should be referred to the Directions Judge promptly by the BSB so that



sanctions for non-compliance could be considered, timetables are not allowed to drift and the public interest in cases being heard is given proper consideration.

- 3.8.12 Introduce clear written guidance and/or additional training for Tribunal panels and Directions Judges on using the existing enforcement powers set out in Part 5 rE168 and the costs powers set out in in rE244ff of the Handbook to address non-compliance by applying financial/costs penalties or by applying adverse inference provisions and evidence-excluding orders. This should be supported by more communication in any directions and associated correspondence which refers to a barristers' duties to co-operate with the BSB and the Tribunal.
- 3.8.13 Use a case management questionnaire or where necessary an on-line or remote case management hearings before the final hearing is fixed at which an indication should be given by the barrister as to whether they will accept the allegations. This will also provide an opportunity to raise and resolve any key issues identified by the parties, any procedural directions given, and the hearing time estimate confirmed. A further check on hearing readiness should also be made by the BSB and BTAS sufficiently ahead of the hearing, with a further on-line directions hearing held if needed, to reduce the risk of late adjournments or other last-minute applications.
- 3.8.14 Amend current I&E processes so that time estimates for the final hearing do not have to be set immediately after the initial directions are agreed or made when the respondent barrister may not have served their evidence and the parties have not addressed how their case will be presented and to what extent issues are agreed or disputed.
- 3.8.15 Make more flexible the current requirements in respect of five-person panels:
 - (i) review and consult as to whether the current requirement for 5 person panels is necessary and proportionate given its impact on the overall timeliness of cases;
 - (ii) if there remains an option for BTAS to convene a larger panel for some cases decide whether the constitution of the Tribunal should depend upon the potential sanction rather than other issues such as length, complexity and seriousness of the case.
- 3.8.16 The BSB and BTAS should review their agreement to show who has responsibility for the monitoring of and the progression of case management of all cases at the hearing stage, including: clear performance management measures such as timescales for directions being in place; the monitoring of compliance; time estimates being more accurate; and a high proportion of cases being concluded within defined timeframes. The agreement should reflect if should BTAS have increased responsibility for case progression and whether this will require case progression staff.
- 3.8.17 Keep under review the BSB's use of interim orders which might be anticipated to increase if and when new powers come into force. Amendments have been agreed (subject to LSB approval) that bring the power to make orders more closely aligned with the Regulatory Objectives. The new powers widen the powers for seeking and ordering an interim order and will include the power to take interim action where it is necessary for the protection of the public or public interest, and to impose interim orders after a finding of



professional misconduct pending a decision on sanction. This may have consequences for Tribunal members (required to sit and decide these applications and then conflicted from further involvement) and on compliance, with a potentially increased urgency for cases to be progressed

3.8.18 Improve bundle preparation (perhaps based on CPR requirements) and include standard indexes and case summary and chronology documents in each case.

3.9 Rules Changes

Make changes to parts of the BSB Handbook and internal operating procedures that will enable greater process efficiency. Whilst the procedural regulations compare favourably with those of other regulators the Handbook needs to be better organised and simplified using plain English.

Benefits

3.9.1 The benefits of the changes we propose below to the conduct rules and also to their expression in the Handbook will act as an efficiency and productivity enabler across the enforcement activities of the BSB. In particular they will support simplified drafting of allegations, and thereafter Charges, with a consequential reduction in their length and in the time spent drafting and in considering them.

Commentary

- 3.9.2 There is a "Handbook Log" held by the BSB that identifies areas for potential drafting changes to the Enforcement Regulations Part 5). We have undertaken a summary review of this document and endorse its aim and its direction of travel. However, it falls outside our current remit to review and comment on the proposals in this document in detail, or to set out the precise nature of the revisions that might be required. Where we have identified particular Rules that might be relevant to our findings and recommendations we have referenced them in earlier parts of this report.
- 3.9.3 By comparison with other regulators, our assessment is that The Code of Conduct is adequate but does not match the best in class. For example, the level of detail in Part 2 of the Handbook that addresses both Core Duties and Conduct Rules as they apply to barristers is challenging to read and understand.
- 3.9.4 Procedural regulations in Part 5 compare favourably with other regulators and follow the stages and processes we would expect to see in fair enforcement procedures. However, these parts of the Handbook, like most other BSB documents that support work in assessment and enforcement, need to be better organised and simplified using plain English. The handbook contains most of the provisions required for disciplinary investigations and hearings and our assessment is that in substance it is comprehensive and acceptable and is fit for purpose.



- 3.9.5 Our work has identified a number of areas where changes in the Rules set out in the Handbook should be made to enable greater process efficiency. In summary:
 - (i) Part 2: The Code of Conduct. Both the assessment and the investigations and enforcement teams (and the Independent Reviewers) find this part of the Handbook difficult to navigate. They also find it takes excessive time for them to be comfortable that they have gained sufficient familiarity with the contents and substance to apply it to their assessment of cases
 - (ii) The complexity of the Code of Conduct also leads to substantial additional work being needed identifying the very specific breaches of Conduct Rules and Core Duties that in turn results in complex allegation and charge drafting. (For example, the wording related to power of appeal is driving cumbersome ways of drafting allegations then charges where one act of conduct is separately alleged to be for example a failure to observe duty to the court, a failure to act with honesty and integrity, a failure to ensure a practice was efficiently and properly administered etc}.
 - (iii) As a consequence, this adds to the work undertaken by IDB panels in reaching decisions and articulating those decisions where each allegation must be discussed and decided upon and reasons given, often in a very repetitious manner. There is a similar impact for the Disciplinary Tribunal.
 - (iv) Part 5: The Enforcement Regulations. The Handbook Log sets out a number of clarifications or minor adjustments to the processes. Navigation of Part 5 follows a logical order but Regulation references are complex (for example "professional misconduct contrary to Rules rC3.1, rC6.1, rC6.2 and Core Duty 1 and Core Duty 3 of the Conduct Rules (BSB Handbook, version 4.5 and version 4.6) Professional misconduct, contrary to Rule rC87.1 of the Conduct Rules (BSB Handbook, version 4.5 and version 4.6").
 - (v) Potentially redraft parts of the Handbook to clarify certain existing powers in respect of, for example: excluding evidence; drawing adverse inferences; and imposing costs, so that these are deployed by the Disciplinary Tribunal and Directions Judges to improve case progression. It appears some powers available, for example to BTAS, are not necessarily well known to Tribunal panel members.
 - (vi) We do not recommend that BTAS should draft its own Rules, as the Rules need to be owned by the BSB and be approved as part of its regulatory arrangements by the Legal Services Board. However, there is scope for collaborative working to update Part 5B of the Handbook if it is thought necessary to undertake a major review.
 - (vii) New regulations would be required as a result of a decision to reduce to threeperson tribunals. Maintaining an option for five-person tribunals in certain circumstances would also require a Rule change.



BSB 110424

BSB Paper 024 (24) Part 1 - Public

4. Full list of recommendations



4. Full List of Recommendations

In this final section we include, for completeness, a comprehensive listing of all recommendations in this report.

In many areas our recommendations for change could be achieved in a number of different ways. It is, however, important that the principle behind the change recommendation is addressed whilst it is open to the BSB and BTAS to determine how best to take forward the implementation of these recommendations.

1. Create a senior executive role to take full responsibility for the effectiveness and continuous improvement of the end-to-end enforcement process.

- 1.1 Options:
 - (i) Revert to the pre 2019 arrangements with assessment together with enforcement under one Director;
 - (ii) Form a cross-departmental task group (including BTAS);
 - (iii) Create a "single owner" of process success (but without direct line-management responsibilities) to drive change.
- 1.2 if reversion chosen, fully assess the wider implications of recombining the assessment function with the enforcement function on other aspects of performance beyond enforcement;
- 1.3 If "matrix management" (Option iii) assess how this would fit with the current BSB operating model;
- 1.4 deliver four key leadership responsibilities (whatever option):
 - (i) improve the effective delivery of the BSB's risk-based enforcement strategy from the initial receipt of information through to intermediate closures or final determination at the Disciplinary Tribunal;
 - (ii) co-ordinate and manage through the programme of change agreed by the Board in the light of this report;
 - (iii) deliver stronger alignment and co-operation within the BSB, with BTAS, and with third parties: the Legal Ombudsman; the Bar Council; the COIC; legal consumer bodies, and other legal sector regulators;
 - (iv) achieve a to better understanding and acceptance amongst the public of the BSB's role.

2. Build a "best-in-class" knowledge management environment.

- 2.1 a complete set of up-to-date, well-articulated guidance and information documents;
- 2.2 implement easy-to-navigate systems accessibility to relevant information;
- 2.3 provide effective and thorough induction to new joiners;
- 2.4 ensure up-to-date policies are accessible via the website for barristers and others so they understand BSB approaches to processes and decision making
- 2.5 continuous knowledge development (including key legal updates but also wider embedding of BSB processes) across teams (both CAT and I&E);
- 2.6 deliver regular opportunities for knowledge and know-how sharing between individual;
- 2.7 build a culture where knowledge development and sharing is of high value.
- 2.8 appoint an individual responsible for Knowledge Management to deliver this remit.

3. Improve communication and collaboration between CAT and I&E and the BSB's IT function so as to quickly build and roll out an achievable nearterm plan to enhance the system/process interfaces so that CAT and I&E can work more effectively, building on existing plans and projects as set out below

- 3.1 continue with the key recommendations of the 2023 Deloitte IT Review:
 - (i) migration to cloud hosting (recently implemented);
 - (ii) appoint a solution owner to help deliver user benefits;
 - (iii) simplify IT process and architecture;
 - (iv) introduce more structured change management;
 - (v) empower the CRM support team for better interaction between IT and the user community.
- 3.2 maintain the plans for a quarterly release plan to take user-group input into change and development processes and priorities;
- 3.3 ensure that the new post of technology trainer fully supports staff to get the best out of current systems.
- 3.4 Complete, as planned, the current project to revise and improve all existing user documentation;
- 3.5 create, as planned, a training hub on the intranet site for this and other user materials; and to deliver comprehensive and team-specific training to all CRM users in the





organisation. A new approach to regular and less formal change communications has also been piloted.

- 3.6 establish the principles for architecture redesign. These should focus on: simplicity of process and architecture a single case management solution focussed on the complaint/respondent and the team handling the case; a focus on configuration over coding; a willingness to challenge legacy ways of working; and the ability to support the solution internally amongst users and others.
- 3.7 collate and review of current state documentation, so as to understand how things work currently and baseline the change process.
- 3.8 develop a future state architecture based on the various inputs outlined in the process review, applying policy settings.
- 3.9 agree a programme of development work and change activity to implement the future state architecture.
- 3.10 create sustainable delivery of functionality, along with change activity to users.
- 3.11 embed regular support following change delivery.

4. Be clear on the BSB's core responsibilities to members of the public who submit reports.

- 4.1 clarify policies over the BSB's responsibilities to and interactions with the public so that staff have a clear set of guidelines to work to;
 - (i) improve the information provided on the website as that is the first and predominant point of contact with the public:
 - (ii) the role of the regulator;
 - (iii) how information provided is used;
 - (iv) what reporters can realistically expect by way of acknowledgement, updates and outcomes;
- 4.2 explore the opportunity to improve on-line forms that can filter out and block the submission of many reports that are not appropriate for initial assessment;
- 4.3 be clear in responses to reporters as to what will happen next and in setting expectations;
- 4.4 ensure that chambers and practising barristers send the same messages and so have up to date guidance;
- 4.5 undertake an annual survey of reporter to collect responses that can contribute to continuous service improvement;



4.6 where successful appeals against sanctions are made (that would not otherwise be publicly available) determine the most appropriate way of communicating this to Reporters in particular.

5. Improve CAT performance to achieve the current time based KPI for processing assessments.

- 5.1 implement the public facing changes explained in 4.4 above
- 5.2 create a sustainable and resilient resource pool to remove the impact of churn and unanticipated staff shortages;
- 5.3 enhance the senior management presence in the department;
- 5.4 clear the current backlog of unassessed reports;
- 5.5 be precise between I&E and CAT over the role of CAT as a preliminary assessment function;
- 5.6 entrust responsibility for the "acceptance" of cases stage wholly to CAT;
- 5.7 redraft the handbook to clarify CAT's role in acceptance of reports;
- 5.8 create better and more frequent knowledge-share activities between CAT and I&E teams;
- 5.9 match resource to workload leading to higher probability levels of KPI achievement and no backlog;
- 5.10 introduce better preliminary risk assessment;
- 5.11 production of clearer and more precise guidance to support acceptance risk assessment;
- 5.12 spend less time and resource wasted at the point of hand-over between CAT and I&E.

6. Implement changes in the way that I&E works that will significantly improve performance. These changes can be implemented as part of a "continuous improvement" programme.

- 6.1 reset the nature of communications with barristers where cases are accepted for investigation;
 - (i) provide barristers with notification when their case is "accepted";
 - (ii) provide only a broad description of the nature of matters under investigation at this stage;
 - (iii) decide the appropriate format for capturing and sharing the nature of the matters under investigation (review reference to "summary sheet" in LED04);



- (iv) defer further detailed engagement with barristers under investigation to enable proper allegations to be developed. Together, these actions should reduce the interaction time with barristers.
- 6.2 change the approach to charge-drafting to reduce repetition and focus on specific incidents rather than separate charges for each breach of the handbook;
- 6.3 reduce the extent of premature allegations drafting that occurs;
- 6.4 ensure that "red" risk cases are allocated additional focus and are subject to more frequent review;
- 6.5 clarify role of the BSB representative (their barrister) in drafting charges;
- 6.6 ensure that case investigation plans are sufficiently broad and that progress is regularly reviewed;
- 6.7 key questions should be addressed at the outset and early focus should include:
 - (i) Is there likely to be a need for witnesses and have their contemporaneous documents been secured;
 - (ii) Are witness communications being maintained for optimal engagement;
 - (iii) If permission is needed for Family Court documents attempts should be made early to agree documents to be sought in a single application to the Judge;
 - (iv) If expertise is required as to whether conduct may or may not be a breach this may need to be prioritised.
- 6.8 Change "mindset" once a case is referred so that case presentation focus is more "prosecutorial";
- 6.9 Give case presentation (for IDPs and DT) the focused resourcing it requires without investigations work having to take a lower priority, ensure metrics are in place so that progress on high-risk cases is monitored and that interventions to speed up progress are made where needed.
- 6.10 Explore how technology might assist in streamlining the time-consuming redaction exercise and in achieving full compliance with redaction requirements.
- 6.11 Where IRs have feed-back about handling of cases (both in case reviews and audits) this clearly communicated to managers, for action where appropriate.



7. Effect modest changes in place for the IDB which otherwise works well.

- (i) the BSB should give the IDB greater authority to shape its work as it sees fit so as best deliver its remit;
- (ii) it should be for the IDB to determine its procedures (for example which of the accelerated procedures to drop and which to keep and evolve as has already been done);
- (iii) produce an IDB "charter" that identifies how the IDB is expected to contribute to the overall efficiency and success of the enforcement process;
- (iv) ensure that the IDB can call I&E to account in terms of support provided;
- (v) the IDB must have a clear voice in future plans for improvements in enforcement processes.

8. Improve the effectiveness of BTAS and the Disciplinary Tribunal, in particular to reduce the excessive elapsed time occurring. Set up stronger inter-actions between BTAS and the BSB to help achieve common goals.

- 8.1 define, through new documentation, how the BSB and BTAS can work effectively at a strategic level to common goals while maintaining the separation and independence of the Tribunal;
- 8.2 improve the support of individual hearings by the BSB, BTAS with the two bodies working together.
- 8.3 clarify the status of the Tribunal, its structure of governance and accountability;
- 8.4 define how the SAB role could be developed so as to underpin its current remit as a conduit for agreeing and implementing change.
- 8.5 as a matter of priority, set up a joint BSB and BTAS team to:
 - (i) confirm the negative impact of delays;
 - (ii) identify the relative impact, time and cost (resource and otherwise) required to resolve them; and
 - (iii) prioritise how these solutions will be addressed and within what timescales.
- 8.6 mitigate unnecessary delays to case progression during hearings:
 - amend rules relating to directions: rules could allow for all cases to use standard directions, or for the parties to agree to vary but only by a limited number of days, or for cases to be referred to a Directions Judge (possibly with the need for a hearing);



- (ii) explore how rules could allow for limited extensions to be agreed with respondent barrister but any other non-compliance to be referred back to the Directions Judge;
- (iii) Introduce guidance for panels and Directions Judges on using existing enforcement powers in Part 5 rE168 and costs powers in rE244 ff to address issues of non-compliance using clearer financial/costs penalties or adverse inference provisions/evidence-excluding orders, supported by more communication focus by BSB on barristers' duty to co-operate with regulator and more active case progression approach by the BSB acting as regulator 'in public interest'.
- (iv) make use of case management questionnaires (and a remote hearing if needed) before the final hearing is fixed at which an indication should be given by the barrister as to whether the allegations will be accepted, and the key issues identified by the parties, and any necessary procedural directions given and the hearing time estimate confirmed. A further check on hearing readiness should also be made by the BSB/BTAS 2 weeks before the hearing, and another remote directions hearing held, if needed, to avoid late adjournments or other last minute applications.
- (v) amend current I&E process so that time estimates for final hearing do not have to be set at the outset before issues have been clarified;
- 8.7 make more flexible the current fixed requirements in relation to 5 person panels:
 - (i) check if the current requirement for 5 person panels is needed given its impact on the overall timeliness of cases;
 - (ii) if using a larger panel in some cases is appropriate, whether the constitution of the Tribunal should depend upon the potential sanction and not upon other issues such as length/complexity/seriousness;
- 8.8 review the BSB/ BTAS service agreement to:
 - (i) set responsibility for, and routine monitoring of, the progression and case management of all cases at the hearing stage;
 - (ii) performance management measures
- 8.9 review if BTAS should be given increased responsibility for case progression including appropriate case progression staff.
- 8.10 review the BSB's future use of interim orders and its potential impact on BTAS workload;
- 8.11 improve bundle preparation, and standard indices and case summary and chronology documents in each case.

BSB 110424

8.12 ensure that BTAS is properly equipped with the IT to enable it to function effectively.



9. Make changes to the BSB Handbook to enable greater process efficiency. Make the Handbook better organised and simplified using plain English.

- 9.1 re-draft Part 2 of the Handbook as it is challenging to read and understand; it needs to be better organised and simplified using plain English;
 - (i) Part 2 the Code of Conduct needs a redraft. Both the assessment and investigations and enforcement teams (and the Independent Reviewers) find this part of the Handbook difficult to navigate
 - (ii) the complexity of the Code of Conduct also leads to complex allegation and charge drafting. (It needs simplifying.
 - (iii) Part 5 the Enforcement Regulations. The Handbook Log sets out a number of sensible clarifications or minor adjustments to the processes. Navigation of Part 5 follows a sensible order but Rule references are complex and it appears some powers available for example to BTAS are not necessarily well known to Tribunal panel members.
 - (iv) Redrafting is needed to amplify certain powers that exist in relation to excluding evidence, drawing adverse inferences or imposing costs, so that these are deployed to support case progression.
- 9.2 BTAS should not draft its own Rules as these need to be owned by BSB and approved as part of its regulatory arrangements by the Legal Services Board. However, there is scope for collaborative working on drafting.
- 9.3 New regulations would be required if there were a decision to reduce to 3 person tribunals. Maintaining an option for 5 person tribunals in certain circumstances would also require a Rule change.



BSB Paper 024 (24) Part 1 - Public



BSB Paper 025 (24)

Part 1 – Public

Meeting:	Special Board Meeting on the independent Enforcement Review	Date:	11 April 2024
Title:	Executive response to the Enforcement Review Recommendations		
Author:	Sara Jagger		
Post:	Director of Legal and Enforcement		

Paper for:Decision: \square Discussion: \square Noting: \square Other: \square (enter text)

Paper relates to the Regulatory Objective (s) highlighted in bold below

- (a) protecting and promoting the public interest
- (b) supporting the constitutional principle of the rule of law
- (c) improving access to justice
- (d) protecting and promoting the interests of consumers
- (e) promoting competition in the provision of services
- (f) encouraging an independent, strong, diverse and effective legal profession
- (g) increasing public understanding of citizens' legal rights and duties
- (h) promoting and maintaining adherence to the professional principles

Paper does not principally relate to Regulatory Objectives

Purpose of Report

- 1. The purpose of this paper is to inform the Board of the executive response to the recommendations arising from the Enforcement Review ("the Review") as set out in Part 3 and summarised in Part 4 of the Enforcement Review Report ("the Report"), including the broad approach suggested for the implementation of the recommendations.
- 2. Annex 1 sets out the full list of recommendations with high level indications on: acceptance of the recommendations; whether there is potential for the recommendations to have cost implications; dependencies and provisional timescales. The recommendations highlighted in yellow in Annex 1, and referred to at paragraph 4 below, are those on which agreement, in principle, by the Board is required to move ahead with implementation. All other recommendations are considered by the executive to be operational and can be taken forward by the executive with the endorsement of the Board but without its express approval.
- 3. A separate paper has been prepared by the Bar Tribunal and Adjudication Service (BTAS), approved by the Strategic Advisory Board (SAB), in response to the recommendations about improving the effectiveness of BTAS and the Disciplinary Tribunal as set out in section 8, part 4 of the Report. That paper can be found at Annex 2.

Recommendations

4. The Board is invited to approve, in principle, the nine main recommendations as articulated in part 3, and listed in part 4 of the Report and agree that the executive should immediately move ahead with the following actions:

Part 1 – Public

- Develop proposals for: the creation of a senior executive role to take full responsibility for the end-to-end enforcement process in line with part 4, section 1, option 1.1(i) of the Report; and for appointing an individual responsible for knowledge management in line with recommendation 2.8 of part 4, with a view to bringing costed proposals to the Board in July 2024 for approval;
- ii. Agree, in principle, the recommendations related to improvements to the BTAS and Tribunal arrangements which may require amendments to the governance arrangements and/or the agreement with the Council of the Inns of Court for the provision of Tribunal services i.e. the recommendations set out in part 4, sections 8.1, 8.4 and 8.5 of the Report; and
- iii. Take forward all other recommendations relating to operational matters subject to: relevant recommendations being brought back to the Board for final agreement; business plans for implementation being presented to the Performance, Resources and Performance Committee (PRP) and proposals for future amendments to the Handbook being approved by the Board prior to public consultation.

Overview

- 5. The Board is familiar with the background to the Enforcement Review. The Review does not, however, stand alone. When we commissioned the Review, we recognised it would impact on, and be impacted by, other initiatives including:
 - i. the Data and Intelligence project (on which the Board received a paper at its last meeting in March);
 - ii. the review of our approach to regulatory risk, which covers both how we extract intelligence about macro risk from our handling of enforcement work and how our judgements about macro risks then inform, without over-determining, judgements about the micro enforcement decisions;
 - iii. the review of Part 5 of the Handbook (given that the first phase of this project was originally intended to assess the efficacy of the enforcement processes, its progression was put on hold pending the outcome of the Review); and
 - iv. our parallel reviews of our approach to authorisations.
- 6. The Review and the implementation of its recommendations cannot therefore be addressed in isolation. We must take them forward alongside other work and programmes to ensure effective outcomes, the best use of our resources and a joined-up approach to continuous improvement. To this end, the executive is planning a wider reform programme that will bring together the various change initiatives, including the implementation of the recommendations in this Review.
- 7. The wider reform programme is likely to include at least two strands dedicated to implementing relevant parts of the Review recommendations i.e. (1) a project to implement operational changes that do not require changes to the Handbook and (2) a project to review the detail of the Enforcement Regulations contained in Part 5 of the BSB Handbook ("Part 5 Review").
- 8. The executive recognises the need to make the recommended changes as swiftly as possible. This paper indicates, at a high level, how each of the main areas for change identified in the Review will be taken forward within the context of other work and current resources and more detail is provided in Annex 1.

Review recommendations

- 9. The executive is grateful to the Fieldfisher Project Team for their work in carrying out the Review and welcomes the outcomes. We endorse the principles that underpin the nine areas for change as set out in parts 3 and 4 of the Report.
- 10. As to implementation, we note Fieldfisher's comment that many of the recommendations can be achieved in different ways. The executive will therefore work up and, if necessary, put to the Board, detailed costed options for implementation, including evaluation of the equality and data impacts as well as any proposals that require changes to the Handbook and therefore public consultation in advance of making a final decision.
- 11. Most of the recommendations are, however, operational and can be taken forward by the executive without further approval from the Board but subject to oversight by the Performance and Strategic Planning Committee. The timescale for implementing the recommendations will vary according to the recommendation and the interdependencies. The longest timescales are likely to be for those recommendations that will require Handbook amendments and/or will involve the re-engineering of our key operating systems. We can only take forward the latter when we are clear on our revised rules and processes.
- 12. Overall, the aim is to have implemented most of the recommendations in the course of 2024/25. Any remaining recommendations will be included in the business plan for 2025/2026.
- 13. We have set out below our views on the nine areas for change along with our initial views on the approach to implementation, timescales and potential cost implications. It should be noted that section 8 of part 4 of the Report includes recommendations that affect both the BSB and the BTAS with many requiring joint working. BTAS's response to these recommendations is set out in a separate paper and the BSB's response can be found at paragraphs 41- 44 below: each has been informed by the other.

Executive responses to the Review recommendations

14. The executive's views on the nine main areas for change recommended in the Report are set in the paragraphs below.

Create a senior executive role to take full responsibility for the effectiveness and continuous improvement of the end-to-end enforcement process (part 3.1 and part 4 section 1 of the Report)

15. The executive agrees with the principle that there should be a senior executive with responsibility for the end-to-end process and that the role should be responsible for three of the key deliverables set out at recommendation 1.4. The initial view is that, in the absence of matrix management in other aspects of the BSB's operating model, adopting such an approach in one area of the BSB's work is unlikely to be workable and could lead to confusion about accountability. The executive favours the option of recombining management of the end-to-end process under one senior executive i.e. Option 1.1 (i). We are considering how this could be achieved and the wider implications for the organisation.

Build a "best in class" knowledge management environment (part 3.2 and part 4 section 2 of the Report)

- 16. The executive fully accepts the principle of this recommended change and the operational recommendations for implementation. The Board has already recognised that there needs to be more focus on this area of work. Many of the detailed recommendations at part 4 section 2 of the Report are operational and involve developing/enhancing existing systems which can be taken forward immediately by the executive without additional resource i.e. effective induction for new joiners (2.3); posting up to date policies on the website (2.4); continuous knowledge development across teams (2.5); and ensuring regular opportunities for knowledge and know-how sharing between individuals (2.6).
- 17. We recognise however that more fundamental reform is needed to ensure that we can develop new policies and guidance effectively and maintain and update them. We currently have an internal knowledge hub in the form of a microsite. However, we have struggled to develop and enhance this. The organisation is in the process of completing a major project to move our document management systems to a SharePoint platform and this will open new opportunities to develop easy to navigate information systems.
- 18. In conclusion, the executive welcomes the recommendation that the BSB should appoint an individual responsible for knowledge management. This role will be key to achieving a best-in-class knowledge management environment envisaged. Consideration will need to be given to the remit of this role and where it should sit within the organisation. These issues will need to be explored as part of the wider reform programme.

Improving communication and collaboration between CAT and I&E and the BSB's IT function so as to quickly build and role out an achievable near term plan to enhance the system/process interfaces so that CAT and I&E can work more effectively, building on existing plans and projects (part 3.3 and part 4, section 3 of the Report)

- 19. The executive accepts this recommendation. The IT interface between the assessment and enforcement functions, and the impact it has on effective working, has been recognised as an issue for some time. A considerable amount of work has already been carried out, arising from the Deloitte Recommendations, as acknowledged in the Review, to lay the groundwork for improving the functionality of the Case Management System.
- 20. The following areas of work are already complete:
 - migrating systems to cloud-based hosting (3.1(i));
 - appointing a solution owner to help deliver user benefits (3.1(ii));
 - a new post of technology trainer has been recruited to support staff to get the best out of current systems; and
 - a new approach to regular and less formal change communications has also been piloted.
- 21. Actions which are in currently in progress are:
 - Introduction of the quarterly change release plan (3.1(iv) and 3.2);
 - delivering training and support to get the best out of current systems (3.3);
 - completing the current project to revise and improve all existing user documentation (3.4); and
 - creating an internal training hub on the intranet site (3.5).
- 22. The BSB will be taking forward immediately, with the Project Management Office (PMO), the principles for architecture design (3.1(iii) and 3.6) and also the collation of the current state documentation (3.7). The timing for completion of this work will be dependent on resource availability within the PMO given the pending departure of the current Head of team but the intention is to complete it by the end of quarter 2 of 2024/25.
- 23. Implementation of the remaining recommendations in this area will be dependent on not only on agreeing the architecture design but also agreeing the relevant process changes covered by the recommendations set out at sections 5, 6 and 8 of part 4 of the Report.
- 24. The costs involved in IT adaptations will depend on the requirements arising from the agreed enforcement process changes. Funds have already been included in the Resources Group budget for 2024/25 based on previous experience of the costs of equivalent system changes.

Be clear on the BSB's core responsibilities to members of the public who submit reports (part 3.4 and part 4, section 4 of the Report)

25. The recommendations in this area are mainly operational and the executive agrees all should be taken forward.

- 26. The pre-requisite for progress is agreement to the principles which should govern our interaction with members of the public who make reports. The executive will be bringing a paper to the Board in July on this, with a view to ensuring that we all agree on our responsibilities in this area. This will allow the executive to proceed with clarifying the relevant polices and updating the information on the website.
- 27. The executive will immediately review the responses we send to reporters at all stages of the enforcement process, to ensure we are including clear information about what will happen next and what they can expect (recommendation 4.3). Where relevant, we will make interim amendments to the website.
- 28. The other recommendations will need detailed consideration of the options for implementation as well as the associated costs. They will be taken forward under the wider reform programme as a part of a discrete project covering implementation of operational recommendations that do not require Handbook amendments.
- 29. In relation to recommendation 4.2, the executive agrees that we need to look at how we can filter out inappropriate reports, given the high number of reports that are not taken forward at the initial assessment stage. We have already been looking at how we can improve the information available on our website as to what should and what should not be reported to us and we will also need to carefully consider the technological options available, including AI, and any impact a filtering approach could have on the receipt of information that might inform our wider approach to regulation of the Bar. We will also need to assess the equality impacts of any options as well as their costs.
- 30. In relation to recommendation 4.5 and the concept of introducing an annual survey of reporters, the executive fully supports gathering such feedback. The 2024/25 business plan already includes the introduction of an ongoing User Feedback Survey across all the BSB's front-line decision-making functions (Assessment, Enforcement, Supervision and Authorisation). We will therefore need to explore the cost-benefits of continuing to develop our plans for an ongoing user survey or switch to an annual survey as envisaged by this recommendation.

Improve CAT performance to achieve the current time based KPI for processing assessments (part 3.5 and part 4, section 5 of the Report)

- 31. The recommendations within this part of the Review are mainly operational and the executive accepts all recommendations, some of which have already been implemented, or will be in the near future, i.e.
 - 5.2 the creation of a sustainable and resilient resource pool
 - 5.3 enhancement of the senior management presence in the department
 - 5.4 clearing the current backlog of unassessed reports

- 32. Recommendations 5.5 to 5.7 focus on the interface between the initial assessment and investigation functions of the BSB. In essence, Fieldfisher recommend moving responsibility for decision-making as to whether a case should be subject to formal investigation, from the investigation team to the initial assessment team. The executive is open to introducing this change and considers it could be accomplished without any amendments to the regulations.
- 33. However, careful consideration will need to be given to the capacity within CAT to take such decisions. Current CAT resourcing is predicated on the basis that a referral to investigation will be subject to initial consideration by a legally qualified manager in the Investigations and Enforcement Team (I&E). A transfer of this responsibility, which carries with it the risk of judicial review of the decision, needs to be accompanied by appropriate support and training within CAT. With this support, the change could be introduced relatively soon subject to amendments to the Case Management System to allow decisions to be tracked and reported for KPI purposes.
- 34. The other main focus of the recommendations in this section is adjusting the risk assessment tools, in particular the preliminary risk assessment, accompanied by more precise guidelines to support risk assessment. The executive had already identified the micro risk assessment methodology as an area for streamlining and therefore welcomes the Review findings that this is an area that needs attention. The executive will take this work forward as part of the wider change programme work, including the review of the risk framework.

Implement changes to the way I&E works that will significantly improve performance. These changes can be implemented as part of a "continuous improvement" programme (part 3.6 and part 4, section 6 of the Report)

- 35. The executive agrees with the thrust of all recommendations in this area of change. Some of these are operational and can be taken forward immediately without additional resource or inclusion in a specific project: i.e.
 - 6.4 ensure that "red" risk, i.e. high risk, cases are given additional focus and are subject to more frequent review;
 - 6.5 clarify the role of the BSB representative in drafting charges;
 - 6.6 ensure that case investigation plans are sufficiently broad and that progress is regularly reviewed;
 - 6.7 include key witness, and other, questions at the outset of the investigation; and
 - 6.8 change the "mindset" once a case is referred so that case presentation focus is more "prosecutorial".
- 36. In relation to recommendation 6.1 and 6.3, the executive supports the principles that formal allegations of potential breaches of the Handbook should be crystallised at a later stage in the investigation process, and that barristers should be informed as soon as possible that they are under investigation after the decision to investigate is taken. Implementation of the recommendations under 6.1 needs further consideration, including an assessment of the practical and equality impacts, before a decision can be taken on the approach to take to introducing this change. It may be that it would best be supported by an

amendment to the Handbook regulations to provide clarity on the approach. The Board should note that steps had already been taken, prior to the Review, to try to move to a more flexible approach to drafting allegations and we will build on those steps going forward regardless of any changes to the regulations.

37. All other recommendations in this suite will be taken forward by the executive as part of the operational implementation project under the reform programme. This will involve considering ways of organising work to ensure effective and efficient handling of cases including instruction of counsel.

Effect modest changes in place for the IDB which otherwise works well (part 3.7 and part 4, section 7 of the Report)

- 38. The executive is pleased that the IDB processes are working well and notes that only "modest" changes are recommended. The recommendations in this area are directed in the main at giving the IDB greater control over how it works, and the support provided by the executive.
- 39. The executive, in principle, has no objections to implementing these recommendations and agrees that recommendation 7(v), which recommends that the IDB has a clear voice in future plans for improvements in the enforcement processes, should be accepted. The IDB is already consulted about changes to the processes that affect their work and canvassed for feedback on areas for improvement.
- 40. However, recommendations 7(i) to 7(iv) are not necessarily operational matters and may have constitutional implications given the Terms of Reference for the IDB are enshrined in the BSB's governance arrangements. Implementing the recommendations may also have an impact on the way the IDB works and the responsibilities it holds, which in turn may change the nature of membership of the IDB. Therefore, in the spirt of recommendation 7(v), the executive view is that these recommendations should be remitted to the Office Holders and membership of the IDB to discuss collectively and provide a view to the Board on whether they should be formally accepted and taken forward. The Chair of the IDB has indicated support for this approach particularly given the overall assessment that the IDB currently works well.

Improve the effectiveness of BTAS and the Disciplinary Tribunal in particular to reduce the excessive elapsed time occurring. Set up stronger inter-actions between BTAS and the BSB to help achieve common goals (part 3.8 and part 4, section 8 of the Report)

41. The Board is referred to Annex 2 for the response from BTAS, as agreed by the Strategic Advisory Board, to the recommendations set out at section 8 of part 4 of the Report. While the BSB executive response is aligned with that of BTAS, some of the recommendations have wider constitutional implications that it must be for the Board to decide, in principle, if they are accepted and the executive can move ahead with BTAS to explore options for implementation. The relevant recommendations are set out at paragraph 44 below.

- 42. Many of the recommendations in section 8 of part 4 of the Report have joint implications and require joint working but are operational in nature and can be taken forward at executive level in conjunction with BTAS, and SAB where appropriate, without any changes to the regulations. Some will require amendments to regulations and will be taken forward, again in conjunction with BTAS, as part of the Part 5 Review.
- 43. A BTAS joint Case Management Working Group, set up in January, is already taking some of the recommendations forward (e.g. 8.2, 8.5 and 8.6) and SAB has agreed to extend the remit of this Group to cover wider implementation and work with the BSB to develop and take forward changes to the regulations.
- 44. The recommendations that require Board acceptance, in principle, to move ahead with BTAS to develop detailed proposals are:
 - 8.1 defining how the BSB and BTAS can work effectively at a strategic level to common goals while maintaining separation and independence of the Tribunal;
 - 8.3 clarify the status of the Tribunal, its structure of governance and accountability; and
 - 8.4 define how the role of the BTAS Strategic Advisory Board (SAB) could be developed to underpin its remit as a conduit for agreeing and implementing change

Make changes to the BSB Handbook to enable greater process efficiency. Make the Handbook better organised and simplified using plan English (part 3.9 and part 4, section 9 of the Report)

- 45. Some of the recommendations in this area go much further than the enforcement system and Enforcement Regulations in Part 5 of the Handbook and are directed at the wider content of the Handbook. The executive considers both the wider recommendations for revising the Handbook (recommendations 8.1(i) and (ii)) as those related to amendments to Part 5 of the Handbook, should be accepted.
- 46. The concerns identify in the Review that lie behind the recommendations in relation to the complexity of the Handbook and the need for redrafting of the Code of Conduct (Part 2 of the Handbook) have been recognised for some time as areas that need addressing. This is reflected in the scope of the work for the Handbook Review Project, which is already tasked with considering ways to simplify the Code. Implementation of these recommendations will therefore be incorporated in the Handbook Review Project.
- 47. In relation to Part 5 of the Handbook, the executive notes the endorsement in the Report of the fundamental structure of the enforcement regulations and their general efficacy. Nevertheless, the executive accepts that there are areas of Part 5 that need redrafting, as reflected in the log of Part 5 amends referred to in the Report.

48. A comprehensive review of Part 5 of the Handbook had been planned prior to the commission of the independent Review but was put on hold to avoid duplication of work and pending the outcome of the Review. That project will now be resumed and taken forward under the auspices of the BSB's wider reform programme but in partnership with BTAS.

Resource implications/impacts on other teams/departments

- 49. Implementation of the Review recommendations will affect a wide number of areas and teams in both the BSB and the Resources Group. Additional project management resources will be needed to manage the implementation as part of the BSB's wider reforms. There are some operational recommendations, identified above and in Annex 1, that are capable of implementation immediately without additional resource or the need for inclusion in a planned project. However, the implementation of all other recommendations will need to be the subject of detailed planning, options appraisals, impact assessment and costing.
- 50. As the Board is aware, funds have been included in the 2024/25 budget to support the implementation of the Review recommendations. How these funds are deployed will be considered as part of the wider planning and the intention is to come back to the Board in July with a more detailed implementation plan that brings together the various programmes of work and ensures a holistic approach, avoids duplication of work and makes the best use of our resources.

Equality and Diversity

51. We do not consider any equality impacts arise from accepting the recommendations in principle given that all relevant recommendations will be subject to detailed consideration of the options for implementation including the equality impacts. The recommendations the executive considers can be implemented immediately relate only to internal management of cases. There are some recommendations, identified above, that may have equality impacts dependent on the options for implementation and the implementation of many others will need to consider the equality impacts before decision are taken on the way forward. At this stage it is not possible to do anything more than highlight the need for equality impact assessments and ensure that such assessments are undertaken as part of options appraisals and are used to inform the final decisions taken.

Risk implications

52. The Review was commissioned to assess whether the BSB's enforcement processes were fit for purpose, risk-based and proportionate and were in line with good regulatory practice. The Review was also commissioned to establish the extent to which decisions are taken in a robust, timely, consistent and sound manner and to consider the scope for introducing changes which improve the efficiency and quality of how enforcement cases are handled, and decisions taken.

- 53. Having commissioned the independent Review, which has been thorough in considering the operation of the processes, there would clearly be risks to our ability to meet the regulatory objectives in discharging our enforcement functions if we did not move forward, in principle, with the recommendations made to improve the enforcement processes. Taking action to implement the recommendations will assist the BSB with meeting the objectives of protecting and promoting the public and consumer interests as well as promoting adherence to the professional principles. By contrast, leaving things as they are would damage the BSB's credibility and mean foregoing opportunities for improvement.
- 54. However, we need to be mindful that agreeing, in principle, to accept the Review, many of the recommendations will need to be subject to detailed consideration of the options for implementation to ensure that we continue to promote, and do not undermine, the regulatory objectives. There will, inevitably, be risks associated with the implementation of individual recommendations. However, the co-ordinated and holistic programme/project approach to implementation outlined above, and in Annex 1, is designed to ensure that risks are identified and addressed, as part of the development of implementation proposals, prior to final decisions being taken.

Communications and Stakeholder Engagement

- 55. The Review Report will be published following the Board meeting and has already been circulated to our people, internal stakeholders, the Legal Services Board and the Bar Council.
- 56. Further communications, both internal and external, will be required as we move forward with considering the detailed implementation of the recommendations. We shall, for example, need to provide regular assurance reports to the Legal Services Board on this and on our wider reforms. Communication plans will be included in the governance of the various programme/project involved in taking the Review recommendations forward.
- 57. The executive also recognises that we will need a communications strategy on the overall implementation of the Review recommendations and on our wider reforms that co-ordinates communications across the various initiatives and can provide a clear line of sight on progress. The Communications Team will consider how best this can be achieved and proposals to do so will be presented to the Board in July. We intend to engage the new CEO of the Legal Services Board, once appointed, on the best way of maintaining the LSB's confidence in implementing reform.

Executive Response to the Fieldfisher Enforcement Review Recommendations

	Recommendation	Executive response	Costs?	Implementation/ Dependencies	Provisional timescale	Comment
1	Create a senior executive role to take continuous improvement of the end-to				and	Agree
1.1	Options: (i) Revert to the pre 2019 arrangements with assessment together with enforcement under one Director;	Agree	Yes	Reform Programme	ТВА	This is the preferred option and, if accepted in principle, will be taken forward as part of the wider reform programme.
	(ii) Form a cross-departmental task group (including BTAS);					
	 (iii) Create a "single owner" of process success (but without direct line-management responsibilities) to drive change. 					
1.2	if reversion chosen, fully assess the wider implications of recombining the assessment function with the enforcement function on other aspects of performance beyond enforcement;	Agree	Yes?	Reform Programme	ТВА	
1.3	If "matrix management" (Option iii) assess how this would fit with the current BSB operating model;					

	Recommendation	Executive	Costs?	Implementation/	Provisional	Comment
		response		Dependencies	timescale	
1.4	 deliver four key leadership responsibilities (whatever option): (i) improve the effective delivery of the BSB's risk-based enforcement strategy from the initial receipt of information through to intermediate closures or final determination at the Disciplinary Tribunal; (ii) co-ordinate and manage through the programme of change Agree by the Board in the light of this report; (iii) deliver stronger alignment and co-operation within the BSB, with BTAS, and with third parties: the Legal Ombudsman; the Bar Council; the COIC; legal consumer bodies, and other legal sector regulators; (iv) achieve a to better understanding and acceptance amongst the public of the BSB's role. 	Agreed, except for (ii).	No - (i), (iii) and (iv). Yes - (ii).	Reform Programme	N/A	The executive agrees that all the listed responsibilities, apart from 1.4(ii), should be included in the leadership role. In relation to 1.4(ii), the view is that this wider responsibility for the shorter-term implementation of the programme of changes should lie with a fixed term programme manager. Nevertheless, the senior executive would be heavily involved in the implementation programme and act as Project Sponsor for the operational aspects of the implementation.

	Recommendation	Executive response	Costs?	Implementation/ Dependencies	Provisional timescale	Comment
2	Build a "best-in-class" knowledge ma	nagement ei	nvironme	nt.		Agree
2.1	a complete set of up-to-date, well- articulated guidance and information documents	Agree	Yes	Reform programme – Knowledge management resource	ТВА	This work is ongoing but requires additional resource and will be affected by changes to the processes and amendments to the Part 5 regulations
2.2	implement easy-to-navigate systems accessibility to relevant information;	Agree	Yes	Reform Programme SharePoint Project Knowledge management resource	ТВА	Will require development of technology solutions and dedicated resource to take forward
2.3	provide effective and thorough induction to new joiners;	Agree	No	None	Immediate	To be taken forward by CAT and I&E Management
2.4	ensure up-to-date policies are accessible via the website for barristers and others so they understand BSB approaches to processes and decision making	Agree	No	Website review	Ongoing	Updated policies can be added to website as and when agreed – see also 2.1 Improvements as a result of the Website review should assist with improving accessibility.

	Recommendation	Executive	Costs?	Implementation/	Provisional	Comment
2.5	continuous knowledge development (including key legal updates but also wider embedding of BSB processes) across teams (both CAT and I&E);	Agree	No	Dependencies Knowledge management resource	timescale Ongoing	Full implementation will be dependent on knowledge management resource, but existing knowledge management systems will continue to be utilised e.g. the legal training programme, knowledge shares and development of the internal knowledge management microsite.
2.6	deliver regular opportunities for knowledge and know-how sharing between individuals	Agree	No	Knowledge management resource	Ongoing	See 2.5
2.7	build a culture where knowledge development and sharing is of high value.	Agree	No	Knowledge management resource	Ongoing	See 2.5
2.8	appoint an individual responsible for Knowledge Management to deliver this remit	Agree	Yes	Reform programme	TBA	Consideration needs to be given to the remit of this individual and where they will sit in the organisation.

	Recommendation	Executive	Costs?	Implementation/	Provisional	Comment
		response		Dependencies	timescale	
3	Improve communication and collabor function so as to quickly build and ro system/process interfaces so that CA	Agree Many of the recommendations in this section were already planned prior to the Enforcement Review and the costs of implementation have already been incurred/identified. The recommendations require relevant resources being available from the Resources Group, primarily the Project Management Office (PMO) and the Information Services team (IS).				
3.1	continue with the key recommendations of the 2023 Deloitte IT Review: (i) migration to cloud hosting (recently implemented); (ii) appoint a solution owner to help deliver user benefits; (iii) simplify IT process and architecture; (iv) introduce more structured change management;	Agree	No	Information Management Programme	Ongoing	These recommendations were already in train prior to the Review and the costs are included in the Resources Group budget.

	Recommendation	Executive	Costs?	Implementation/	Provisional	Comment
		response		Dependencies	timescale	
	 (v) empower the CRM support team for better interaction between IT and the user community. 					
3.2	maintain a quarterly release plan to take user-group input into change and development processes and priorities;	Agree	No	Information Management Programme PMO resource	Q1 2024/25	The introduction of quarterly release plans has already been agreed and will be implemented when the ATP exercise is complete.
3.3	ensure the new post of technology trainer fully supports staff to get the best out of current systems.	Agree	No	Information Management Programme PMO resource	Ongoing	The appointed trainer is providing ongoing training on relevant systems/
3.4	complete the current project to revise and improve all existing user documentation;	Agree	No	Information Management Programme PMO resource	In progress	New user documentation is being produced on ongoing basis to support training.
3.5	create a training hub on the intranet site for this and other user materials; and to deliver comprehensive and team-specific training to all CRM users in the organisation. A new approach to regular and less formal change communications has also been piloted.	Agree	No	Information Management Programme PMO resource	In progress	Work on the hub and the training has already started and will continue.

	Recommendation	Executive	Costs?	Implementation/	Provisional	Comment
		response		Dependencies	timescale	
3.6	establish the principles for architecture redesign. These should focus on: simplicity of process and architecture - a single case management solution focussed on the complaint/respondent and the team handling the case; a focus on configuration over coding; a willingness to challenge legacy ways of working; and the ability to support the solution internally amongst users and others.	Agree	No	PMO resource	Q2 2024/25	The principles of the architecture can be agreed relatively quickly but implementation of changes to the systems will be dependent on agreement of revised responsibilities and processes (see 3.8 -3.11).
3.7	collate and review of current state documentation, so as to understand how things work currently and baseline the change process.	Agree	No	PMO resource	In progress	
3.8	develop a future state architecture based on the various inputs outlined in the process review, applying policy settings.	Agree	Yes	Reform Programme PMO Resource	ТВА	Implementation will be dependent on agreed changes to processes and responsibilities under other recommendations. Initial funds have already been included in the Resources Group budget for 2024/25
3.9	agree a programme of development work and change activity to implement the future state architecture.	Agree	Yes	Reform Programme PMO Resource	ТВА	See 3.8

	Recommendation	Executive	Costs?	Implementation/	Provisional	Comment
		response		Dependencies	timescale	
3.10	create sustainable delivery of functionality, along with change activity to users.	Agree	Yes?	Reform Programme PMO Resource	ТВА	See 3.8
3.11	embed regular support following change delivery.	Agree	Yes?	Reform Programme PMO Resource	ТВА	See 3.8
4	Be clear on the BSB's core responsib	ilities to men	nbers of t	he public who sub	omit reports.	Agree
4.1	clarify policies over the BSB's responsibilities to and interactions with the public so that staff have a clear set of guidelines to work to; (i) improve the information provided on the website as that is the first and predominant point of contact with the public: (ii) the role of the regulator; (iii) how information provided is used; (iv) what reporters can realistically expect by way of acknowledgement, updates and outcomes;	Agree	Yes (i) No (ii) – (iv).	Agreement on the principled issues and the Website review for (i). (ii)-(iv) are dependent on BSB agreement on the principled issues.	Before Dec 2024	The work on clarifying these issues can be carried out relatively quickly to executive discussion and Board agreement. Thereafter, interim adaptations will need to be made to the website. A website review is already included in planned business activities with the aim of making the information on the website more accessible.

	Recommendation	Executive	Costs?	Implementation/ Dependencies	Provisional timescale	Comment
4.2	explore the opportunity to improve on- line forms that can filter out and block the submission of many reports that are not appropriate for initial assessment;	Agree	Yes	Reform programme	TBA	Implementation will require consideration of the available technological solutions, including potentially AI. The options will need to be costed and the impacts assessed, particularly equality impacts.
4.3	be clear in responses to reporters as to what will happen next and in setting expectations;	Agree	No	None	Immediate	To be taken forward by CAT and I&E Management
4.4	ensure that chambers and practising barristers send the same messages and so have up to date guidance;	Agree	No	Dependent on BSB agreement on the principled issues	Before Dec 2024	See 4.1-4.3
4.5	undertake an annual survey of reporter to collect responses that can contribute to continuous service improvement;	Agree	Yes?	Reform programme	ТВА	A decision will need to be taken as to whether we carry out an annual survey as recommended or gather feedback via an ongoing user survey. The latter, covering all the decision-making functions, is already included in the business activities for 2024/25 and we will need to consider the implications for this planned work.

	Recommendation	Executive	Costs?	Implementation/	Provisional	Comment
		response		Dependencies	timescale	
4.6	where successful appeals against sanctions are made (that would not otherwise be publicly available) determine the most appropriate way of communicating this to Reporters in particular.	Agree	No	None	Immediate	To be taken forward by I&E Management
5	Improve CAT performance to achieve assessments.	the current t	ime base	d KPI for processi	ng	
5.1	implement the public facing changes explained in 4.4 above	See 4.4				
5.2	create a sustainable and resilient resource pool to remove the impact of churn and unanticipated staff shortages;	Agree	No	None	In progress	The Board has already agreed increased resources for CAT and the additional staff are in post. This remains under review.
5.3	enhance the senior management presence in the department;	Agree	No	None	Complete	See 5.2
5.4	clear the current backlog of unassessed reports;	Agree	No	None	In progress	See 5.2
5.5	be precise between I&E and CAT over the role of CAT as a preliminary assessment function;	Agree	No	None	Immediate	To be taken forward by CAT and I&E Management

	Recommendation	Executive response	Costs?	Implementation/ Dependencies	Provisional timescale	Comment
5.6	entrust responsibility for the "acceptance" of cases stage wholly to CAT;	Agree	No	Reform Programme Completion of 5.4		Training and potentially additional resource in CAT will be needed to implement this recommendation. Subject to this it could be implemented relatively quickly once the backlog is cleared but consideration will need to be given to the wider implications.
5.7	redraft the handbook to clarify CAT's role in acceptance of reports;	Agree	No	Part 5 Review	ТВА	
5.8	create better and more frequent knowledge-share activities between CAT and I&E teams;	Agree	No	None	Immediate	To be taken forward by CAT and I&E Management
5.9	match resource to workload leading to higher probability levels of KPI achievement and no backlog;	Agree	No	None	Ongoing	See 5.2
5.10	introduce better preliminary risk assessment;	Agree	Yes	Reform Programme Risk Review	TBA	This will require reviewing the risk methodology and amending the case management system to reflect the change. It is therefore dependent on the implementation of a number of other recommendations.

	Recommendation	Executive response	Costs?	Implementation/ Dependencies	Provisional timescale	Comment
5.11	production of clearer and more precise guidance to support acceptance risk assessment;	Agree	No	Reform programme Risk Review	TBA	See 5.10
5.12	spend less time and resource wasted at the point of hand-over between CAT and I&E.	Agree	No		Ongoing	Improvements have already been made in communications between the teams and other recommendations will assist with this e.g. 5.5 – 5.11
6	Implement changes in the way that I& These changes can be implemented a					
6.1	reset the nature of communications with barristers where cases are accepted for investigation; (i) provide barristers with notification when their case is "accepted"; (ii) provide only a broad description of the nature of matters under investigation at this stage; (iii) decide the appropriate format for capturing and sharing the nature of the matters under investigation (review reference to "summary sheet" in LED04);	Agree	No	Reform Programme Part 5 Review	ТВА	This is an important revision to the process that is fully supported by the executive. However, consideration will need to be given to whether this change in approach can be made without amendments to regulations and how it impacts on other aspects of the current investigation processes.

	Recommendation	Executive	Costs?	Implementation/	Provisional	Comment
		response		Dependencies	timescale	
	 (iv) defer further detailed engagement with barristers under investigation to enable proper allegations to be developed. Together, these actions should reduce the interaction time with barristers. 					
6.2	change the approach to charge- drafting to reduce repetition and focus on specific incidents rather than separate charges for each breach of the handbook;	Agree	No	None	End Q2 2024/25	Agreement will need to be reached on how to achieve this in conjunction with the BSB's Tribunal Representatives. Guidance documents will need to be amended and training given to staff.
6.3	reduce the amount of premature allegations drafting that occurs;	Agree	No	Part 5 Review	ТВА	See 6.1
6.4	ensure that "red" risk cases are allocated additional focus and are subject to more frequent review;	Agree	No	None	Immediate	To be taken forward by I&E Management
6.5	clarify role of the BSB representative (their barrister) in drafting charges;	Agree	No	None	Immediate	To be taken forward by I&E Management
6.6	ensure that case investigation plans are sufficiently broad and that progress is regularly reviewed;	Agree	No	None	Immediate	To be taken forward by I&E Management

	Recommendation	Executive	Costs?	Implementation/	Provisional	Comment
		response		Dependencies	timescale	
6.7	key questions should be addressed at the outset and early focus should include:(i)Is there likely to be a need for witnesses and have their contemporaneous documents been secured;(ii)Are witness communications being maintained for optimal engagement;(iii)If permission is needed for Family Court documents attempts should be made early to agree documents to be sought in a single application to the Judge;(iv)If expertise is required as to whether conduct may or may not be a breach – this may need to be prioritised.	Agree	No	None	Immediate	To be taken forward by I&E Management
6.8	Change "mindset" once a case is referred so that case presentation focus is more "prosecutorial";	Agree	No	None	Immediate	This change in mindset is already occurring with a more rigorous approach to resisting challenges and addressing delays in progression. Many of the recommendations in section 8, albeit some involve implementation on a longer timescale, will also assist with this.

	Recommendation	Executive	Costs?	Implementation/	Provisional	Comment
		response		Dependencies	timescale	
6.9	Give case presentation (for IDPs and DT) the focused resourcing it requires without investigations work having to take a lower priority, ensure metrics are in place so that progress on high-risk cases is monitored and that interventions to speed up progress are made where needed.	Agree	Yes?	Reform Programme	ТВА	Consideration needs to be given to how this recommendation can be implemented in practice. Additional resource may be required, particularly to support the administrative aspects of preparation of cases for presentation to IDPs and DTs
6.10	Explore how technology might assist in streamlining the time-consuming redaction exercise and in achieving full compliance with redaction requirements.	Agree	Yes	Reform Programme PMO resources	ТВА	Implementation will be dependent on the options available, costs, and integration with existing systems.
6.11	Where IRs have feedback about handling of cases (both in case reviews and audits) this clearly communicated to managers, for action where appropriate.	Agree	No	None	Immediate	Feedback of this nature is already provided to managers, but the executive will look to enhance the feedback loop
7	Effect modest changes in place for th	e IDB which	otherwise	e works well.		
	 (i) the BSB should give the IDB greater authority to shape its work as it sees fit so as best deliver its remit; 	Pending	N/K	Reform Programme Consultation with the IDB	ТВА	The executive view is that these recommendations, except 7(v), cannot be accepted or rejected pending discussion with the IDB membership.

	Recommendation	Executive	Costs?	Implementation/	Provisional	Comment
	 (ii) it should be for the IDB to determine its procedures (for example which of the accelerated procedures to drop and which to keep and evolve as has already been done); (iii) produce an IDB "charter" that identifies how the IDB is expected to contribute to the overall efficiency and success of the enforcement process; (iv) ensure that the IDB can call I&E to account in terms of support provided; 	response		Dependencies	timescale	
	 (v) the IDB must have a clear voice in future plans for improvements in enforcement processes. 	Agree	No	None	ТВА	The executive fully accepts that the IDB should have voice in this regard.
8	Improve the effectiveness of BTAS and the excessive elapsed time occurring the BSB to help achieve common goa	. Set up stro				Agree The indications, in this section, about where costs might arise are applicable only to BSB direct costs. Some of the recommendations may require additional expenditure by BTAS.

	Recommendation	Executive response	Costs?	Implementation/ Dependencies	Provisional timescale	Comment
8.1	define, through new documentation, how the BSB and BTAS can work effectively at a strategic level to common goals while maintaining the separation and independence of the Tribunal;	Agree	No	Reform Programme Joint Working Group?	TBA	This recommendation requires joint working and may impact on the formal agreement with the Council of the Inns of Court for the provision of the BTAS services. It therefore requires formal acceptance by the Board, in principle, to allow the executive to move ahead with exploring options with BTAS for implementation.
8.2	improve the support of individual hearings by the BSB, BTAS with the two bodies working together.	Agree	Yes?	Reform Programme	TBA but ongoing	The BSB is already working with BTAS to improve hearing processes and will continue to do so. However, structural improvements may require increased resource on either part and potentially changes to the regulations.
8.3	clarify the status of the Tribunal, its structure of governance and accountability;	Agree	No	Reform Programme BTAS Joint Working Group?	ТВА	Implementation of this recommendation may require changes to the formal arrangements and the agreement with the Council of the Inns of Court as well as changes to the regulations.

	Recommendation	Executive response	Costs?	Implementation/ Dependencies	Provisional timescale	Comment
8.4	define how the SAB role could be developed so as to underpin its current remit as a conduit for agreeing and implementing change.	Agree	No	Reform Programme BTAS Joint Working Group?	TBA	See 8.1 above
8.5	as a matter of priority, set up a joint BSB and BTAS team to: (i) confirm the negative impact of delays; (ii) identify the relative impact, time and cost (resource and otherwise) required to resolve them; and (iii) prioritise how these solutions will be addressed and within what timescales.	Agree	No Yes? No	BTAS Joint Working Group?	Immediate	A joint working group has already been set up by BTAS to take forward this recommendation and others There may be further time needed as well as additional costs associated with resolving the issues once they have been identified.
8.6	mitigate unnecessary delays to case progression during hearings:	Agree	Yes?	BTAS Joint Working Group? Part 5 Review	Ongoing TBA	The joint working group set up with BTAS will explore options for reducing unnecessary delays within the confines of the current regulations. This work will also identify areas where the regulations need to be changed and this will be taken forward as part of the Part 5 review in partnership with BTAS.

Recommendation	Executive response	Costs?	Implementation/ Dependencies	Provisional timescale	Comment
			•		The Part 5 Review will incur costs in relation to drafting revised regulations.
 (i) amend rules relating to directions: rules could allow for all cases to use standard directions, or for the parties to agree to vary but only by a limited number of days, or for cases to be referred to a Directions Judge (possibly with the need for a hearing); 	Agree	Yes	BTAS Joint Working Group? Part 5 Review	ТВА	The Part 5 Review will incur costs in relation to drafting revised regulations.
 (ii) explore how rules could allow for limited extensions to be Agree with respondent barrister but any other non- compliance to be referred back to the Directions Judge; 	Agree	Yes	BTAS Joint Working Group? Part 5 Review	Ongoing TBA	The joint working group set up with BTAS will explore options for taking this recommendation forward within the confines of the current regulations. This work will also identify areas where the regulations need to be changed and this will be taken forward as part of the Part 5 review in partnership with BTAS.

Recommendation	Executive	Costs?	Implementation/	Provisional	Comment
	response		Dependencies	timescale	
 (iii) Introduce guidance for panels and Directions Judges on using existing enforcement powers in Part 5 rE168 and costs powers in rE244 ff to address issues of non-compliance using clearer financial/costs penalties or adverse inference provisions/evidence- excluding orders, supported by more communication focus by BSB on barristers' duty to co-operate with regulator and more active case progression approach by the BSB acting as regulator 'in public interest'. 	Agree	No	BTAS Joint Working Group?	Immediate?	This will mainly be a matter for BTAS and may require additional resource on their behalf to implement. The BSB will take immediate steps to ensure that it supports the robust exercise of Direction Judge/Tribunal powers by emphasising in communications the relevant duties placed on those called to the Bar. See also recommendation 6.8 above
 (iv) make use of case management questionnaires (and a remote hearing if needed) before the final hearing is fixed at which an indication should be given by the barrister as to whether the allegations will be accepted, and the key issues identified by the parties, and any necessary procedural directions given and the 	Agree	Yes?	BTAS Joint Working Group	In progress	The joint working group set up by BTAS will explore options for taking this recommendation forward within the confines of the current regulations. Action is already in train to introduce a case management questionnaire. This work will also identify areas where the regulations need to be changed and this will be taken forward

	Recommendation	Executive	Costs?	Implementation/	Provisional	Comment
		response		Dependencies	timescale	
	hearing time estimate confirmed. A further check on hearing readiness should also be made by the BSB/BTAS 2 weeks before the hearing, and another remote directions hearing held, if needed, to avoid late adjournments or other last minute applications.					as part of the Part 5 review in partnership with BTAS.
	 (v) amend current I&E process so that time estimates for final hearing do not have to be set at the outset before issues have been clarified; 	Agree	No	BTAS Joint Working Group? Part 5 Review	ТВА	Time estimates are currently provided in line with the regulations, which may need to be amended. In meantime, the joint working group will consider how, within the current regime, we can adjust the point at which time estimates for hearings are set.
8.7	 make more flexible the current fixed requirements in relation to 5 person panels: (i) check if the current requirement for 5 person panels is needed given its impact on the overall timeliness of cases; 	Agree	Yes?	BTAS Joint Working Group? Part 5 Review	TBA	This recommendation, while accepted in principle, will require careful assessment of the implications, impact and costs.

	Recommendation	Executive	Costs?	Implementation/	Provisional	Comment
		response		Dependencies	timescale	
	 (ii) if using a larger panel in some cases is appropriate, whether the constitution of the Tribunal should depend upon the potential sanction and not other issues such as length /complexity / seriousness 					
8.8	review the BSB/ BTAS service agreement to: (i) set responsibility for, and routine monitoring of, the progression and case management of all cases at the hearing stage; (ii) performance management measures.	Agree	No	BTAS Joint Working Group?	ТВА	A new three-year agreement between COIC and the BSB is currently in the process of being finalised with a deadline of 31 April 2024. The agreement allows for variations and consideration will be given to how this recommendation can be implemented and what, if any, variations to the agreement are required.
8.9	review if BTAS should be given increased responsibility for case progression including appropriate case progression staff.	Agree	Yes?	BTAS Joint Working Group? Part 5 Review?	TBA	agreement are required. The BSB welcomes BTAS taking on, and being given, more responsibility for active case management. Some of this can be achieved within the current regulations but may require additional resource and costs for BTAS. Amendments to the regulations may be required to fully implement this recommendation.

	Recommendation	Executive response	Costs?	Implementation/ Dependencies	Provisional timescale	Comment
8.10	review the BSB's future use of interim orders and its potential impact on BTAS workload;	Agree	No	None	Ongoing	Subject to approval by the LSB of the changes to the interim order regulations contained in Part 5: Sections B and D of the BSB Handbook, both the BSB and BTAS will monitor the impact of the changes on workloads and address any issues as they arise.
8.11	improve bundle preparation, and standard indices and case summary and chronology documents in each case.	Agree	Yes?	None	Immediate	The I&E management will consider, in conjunction with BTAS, improvements that can be made to bundle preparation. Additional I&E resource may be needed to support preparation of case summaries and chronologies in every case.
8.12	ensure that BTAS is properly equipped with the IT to enable it to function effectively.	Agree	Yes?	BTAS consideration	TBA	This recommendation requires investment by COIC and BTAS has indicated that they are committed to making such investment within the context of the size of the service. Such additional investment will have an impact on the BSB's future contribution to the running costs of BTAS.

	Recomm	nendation	Executive response	Costs?	Implementation/ Dependencies	Provisional timescale	Comment
9		nanges to the BSB Handbook t ok better organised and simpl	ke the	Agree			
9.1	challeng needs to	Part 2 of the Handbook as it is ing to read and understand; it be better organised and d using plain English:	Agree		Handbook Review Project	For the Handbook Review project to determine	This recommendation goes wider than the enforcement processes and is a matter that will need to be taken forward as part of the BSB's Handbook Review Project. That project is specifically designed to streamline the Handbook and make it more accessible for users.
	(i)	Part 2 – the Code of Conduct needs a redraft. Both the assessment and investigations and enforcement teams (and the Independent Reviewers) find this part of the Handbook difficult to navigate	Agree	No	Handbook Review Project	For the Handbook Review project to determine	See 9.1
	(ii)	the complexity of the Code of Conduct also leads to complex allegation and charge drafting. (It needs simplifying	Agree	No	Handbook Review Project	For the Handbook Review project to determine	See 9.1
	(iii)	Part 5 – the Enforcement Regulations. The Handbook Log sets out a number of	Agree	Yes	Part 5 Review	ТВА	This recommendation will be taken forward as part of the

	Recommendation	Executive	Costs?	Implementation/	Provisional	Comment
	sensible clarifications or minor adjustments to the processes. Navigation of Part 5 follows a sensible order but Rule references are complex and it appears some powers available for example to BTAS are not necessarily well known to Tribunal panel members.	response		Dependencies	timescale	wider Part 5 review carried out in conjunction with BTAS. Costs will be incurred in redrafting the regulations, but funds have already been included in the budget for 2024/25 to support this.
	(iv) Redrafting is needed to amplify certain powers that exist in relation to excluding evidence, drawing adverse inferences or imposing costs, so that these are deployed to support case progression.	Agree	Yes	Part 5 Review	TBA	See 9.1(iii)
9.2	BTAS should not draft its own Rules as these need to be owned by BSB and approved as part of its regulatory arrangements by the Legal Services Board. However, there is scope for collaborative working on drafting.	Agree	No	Part 5 Review	N/A	This recommendation reflects the legal services regulatory framework as set out in the Legal Services Act. However, as has always been the case, the BSB will work collaboratively with BTAS and COIC to develop and agree any changes to the disciplinary arrangements as set out in the Part 5 of the Handbook.

	Recommendation	Executive response	Costs?	Implementation/ Dependencies	Provisional timescale	Comment
9.3	New regulations would be required if there were a decision to reduce to 3 person tribunals. Maintaining an option for 5 person tribunals in certain circumstances would also require a Rule change.	Agree	Not known	Part 5 Review	ТВА	See 8.7 above

BTAS Response to the Fieldfisher Enforcement Review Recommendations, as at 28-03-2024

This response has been reviewed and approved by the BTAS Strategic Advisory Board and the Council of the Inns of Court Management Sub Committee. It is shared with the BSB as a provisional response as it is subject to the final approval of the Council of the Inns of Court.

BTAS looks forward to working collaboratively with the BSB to identify how best to implement change.

BTAS' Overall Response

BTAS welcomes the Fieldfisher report and agrees with the recommendations that relate to BTAS. BTAS has already begun to implement the recommendations that will enhance case progression now and will work with the BSB to review the rules and governance matters so as to further enhance case progression. BTAS would like to discuss with the BSB the introduction of a new mechanism for regularly reviewing tribunal procedural rules and implementing change.

Responses

The table below summarises BTAS' responses to Fieldfisher recommendations that directly or indirectly relate to the efficient running of BTAS.

Prioritisation

The table also gives an indication of BTAS's view on priorities. This should be treated with some care as clearly everything could be a priority, all are interdependent and the work will overlap. With that in mind, the priorities are:

- 1. Enhancements to case management that do not require a rule change;
- 2. Review of rule changes needed to further enhance case management;
- 3. Review of wider governance matters.

	Ff Recommendation	BTAS response	BTAS comments	BTAS Cost implication	Priority
1.0	Create a senior executive role to take full responsibility for the effectiveness and continuous improvement of the end-to-end enforcement process.	AGREED	 Yes - It is vital that the BSB has a person or persons who fulfil this responsibility. It is not for BTAS to comment on the BSB's internal structures and therefore BTAS makes no comments on the options below. That said: BTAS wishes to be actively involved in ensuring that the whole process enables BTAS to fulfil its responsibilities effectively and efficiently. BTAS and the BSB must be vigilant to ensure that there can be no encroachment on the tribunal's independent decision making responsibilities. 	no	1
1.1 (a)	Options: i) Revert to the pre 2019 arrangements with assessment together with enforcement under one Director;	N/A	As above.		-
	ii) Form a cross-departmental task group (including BTAS);	N/A	As above		-
	iii) Create a "single owner" of process success (but without direct line-management responsibilities) to drive change.	N/A	As above		-

	Ff Recommendation	BTAS response	BTAS comments	BTAS Cost implication	Priority
8.	Improve the effectiveness of BTAS and the Disciplinary Tribunal, in particular to reduce the excessive elapsed time occurring. Set up stronger inter-actions between BTAS and the BSB to help achieve common goals.	AGREED	BTAS strongly endorses this recommendation and looks forward to working with the BSB to enable this to happen. It is vitally important that matters are dealt with and managed in a timely way by all concerned prior to being referred to BTAS and having been referred to BTAS.	Yes	1
8.1	define, through new documentation, how the BSB and BTAS can work effectively at a strategic level to common goals while maintaining the separation and independence of the Tribunal;	AGREED	 BTAS will work with the BSB to refine or devise: documentation as is necessary to bring clarity; governance structures to enhance oversight; joint operational meeting and processes to enhance efficiency and effectiveness. 	No	3
8.2	improve the support of individual hearings by the BSB, [and] BTAS with the two bodies working together.	AGREED	As above.	No	1
8.3	clarify the status of the Tribunal, its structure of governance and accountability;	AGREED	As above.	No	3
8.4	define how the SAB role could be developed so as to underpin its current remit as a conduit for agreeing and implementing change.	AGREED	As above	No	3

	Ff Recommendation	BTAS response	BTAS comments	BTAS Cost implication	Priority
8.5	as a matter of priority, set up a joint BSB and BTAS team to: i) confirm the negative impact of delays;	AGREED	A working group has already been set up and as a first project has devised case management questionnaires. Under SAB's direction, the work of this group will continue and evolve to fulfil these purposes.	Yes	1
	ii) identify the relative impact, time and cost (resource and otherwise) required to resolve them; and	AGREED	As above	Yes	1
	iii) prioritise how these solutions will be addressed and within what timescales.	AGREED	As above	Yes	1
8.6	mitigate unnecessary delays to case progression during hearings:	AGREED	BTAS emphatically supports this recommendation and has already begun this work.	Yes	1
	i) amend rules relating to directions: rules could allow for all cases to use standard directions, or for the parties to agree to vary but only by a limited number of days, or for cases to be referred to a Directions Judge (possibly with the need for a hearing);	AGREED	BTAS has already begun to give careful consideration as to how BTAS can actively case manage cases from the point of referral to ensure that directions are quickly and appropriately settled and then followed. All options will be explored including the use of periodic case management questionnaires and the early and continued use of case management judges and hearings to identify when a case is beginning to 'drift' and ensure compliance.	Yes	2

Ff Recommendation	BTAS response	BTAS comments	BTAS Cost implication	Priority
 ii) explore how rules could allow for limited extensions to be agreed with respondent barrister but any other non-compliance to be referred back to the Directions Judge; 	AGREED	Emphasis should be placed on referring back to the Directions Judge or Panel Chair any extensions or delays that are at danger of impacting on the listed hearing date or window.	Yes	2
 iii) Introduce guidance for panels and Directions Judges on using existing enforcement powers in Part 5 rE 168 and costs powers in rE244 ff to address issues of non- compliance using clearer financial/costs penalties or adverse inference provisions/evidence-excluding orders, supported by more communication focus by BSB on barristers' duty to co-operate with regulator and more active case progression approach by the BSB acting as regulator 'in public interest'. 	AGREED	Reference to such powers and duties have already been included in the draft case management questionnaires. BTAS will ensure that such matters are prominent in its communications with the parties and that directions judges and panellists receive guidance and training.	Yes	1
 iv) make use of case management questionnaires (and a remote hearing if needed) before the final hearing is fixed at which an indication should be given by the barrister as to whether the allegations will be accepted, and the key issues identified by the parties, and any 	AGREED	As said above, case management questionnaires have been drafted and will be piloted. The questionnaire will be used within the directions process to identify issues, list the hearing appropriately and ensure ongoing compliance. Questionnaires will also be used in the final run up to the hearing to ensure readiness for the hearing.	Yes	1

	Ff Recommendation	BTAS response	BTAS comments	BTAS Cost implication	Priority
	necessary procedural directions given and the hearing time estimate confirmed. A further check on hearing readiness should also be made by the BSB/BTAS 2 weeks before the hearing, and another remote directions hearing held, if needed, to avoid late adjournments or other last minute applications.				
	v) amend current I&E process so that time estimates for final hearing do not have to be set at the outset before issues have been clarified;	AGREED	Whilst agreed, careful consideration will need to be given to providing BTAS with a time estimate as soon as possible so that a listing date or window can be identified as soon as possible (to avoid delay). It is recognised that a balance needs to be struct here.	No	1
8.7	 make more flexible the current fixed requirements in relation to 5 person panels: i) check if the current requirement for 5 person panels is needed given its impact on the overall timeliness of cases; 	AGREED	It is agreed that careful consideration of this matter is needed and (along with other changes) will need to be the subject of consultation. BTAS recognises that many other tribunals only have three person panels and that listing a five person panel can cause delay.	Possibly – if more 5 person panels	2
	ii) if using a larger panel in some cases is appropriate, whether the constitution of the Tribunal should depend upon the potential sanction and not other issues	AGREED	It is agreed that this matter needs reviewing. At the present time the BSB decide whether a matter is suitable for a three person of five person panel. This should not be a matter for the BSB but should be determined by a Directions	Possibly – if more 5 person panels	2

	Ff Recommendation	BTAS response	BTAS comments	BTAS Cost implication	Priority
	such as length / complexity / seriousness;		Judge taking into account all issues relating to the case, not just the sanction.		
8.8	review the BSB/ BTAS service agreement to: i) set responsibility for, and routine monitoring of, the progression and case management of all cases at the hearing stage;	AGREED	BTAS and the BSB renewed the service agreement on 1 April 2024 on the clear understanding that the agreement may need to be revisited or varied in light of the recommendations of this report. BTAS welcomes clarity on matters such as responsibility for monitoring, case management and performance.	Possibly.	2
	ii) performance management measures	AGREED	As above	Possibly	2
8.9	review if BTAS should be given increased responsibility for case progression including appropriate case progression staff.	AGREED	Such a review is welcomed. BTAS is of the view that it should more actively case manage and must therefore have the appropriate powers, will possibly require more staff and the greater involvement of directions judges. At this juncture it is very difficult to determine the degree to which this is the case.	Yes	1
8.10	review the BSB's future use of interim orders and its potential impact on BTAS workload;	AGREED	BTAS brought to the BSB's attention the need to amend the rules on interim orders and believes it is likely that the greater use of such orders will increase workload and cost.	Yes	1

	Ff Recommendation	BTAS response	BTAS comments	BTAS Cost implication	Priority
8.11	improve bundle preparation, and standard indices and case summary and chronology documents in each case.	AGREED	The parties provide the bundles to BTAS. BTAS has long since asked for there to be improvements, not least in the avoidance of the duplication of materials.	No	1
8.12	ensure that BTAS is properly equipped with the IT to enable it to function effectively.	AGREED	BTAS agrees that both active case management and the efficient running of hearings will require further investment in hardware (such as video screens in the tribunal rooms) and case and document management software. BTAS is committed to making such investments whilst ensuring that they are proportionate to the size of the service and caseload.	Yes	1
9.	Make changes to the BSB Handbo organised and simplified using p		reater process efficiency. Make the Hand	book better	
9.1	 re-draft Part 2 of the Handbook as it is challenging to read and understand; it needs to be better organised and simplified using plain English; i) Part 2 – the Code of Conduct needs a redraft. Both the assessment and investigations and enforcement teams (and the Independent Reviewers) find this part of the Handbook difficult to navigate 	AGREED	BTAS would welcome all steps taken to improve the readability and navigation of the Handbook.	No	2

	Ff Recommendation	BTAS response	BTAS comments	BTAS Cost implication	Priority
	ii) the complexity of the Code of Conduct also leads to complex allegation and charge drafting. (It needs simplifying.	AGREED	BTAS panellists often complain about the complexity and duplication of the charges.	No	2
	iii) Part 5 – the Enforcement Regulations. The Handbook Log sets out a number of sensible clarifications or minor adjustments to the processes. Navigation of Part 5 follows a sensible order but Rule references are complex and it appears some powers available for example to BTAS are not necessarily well known to Tribunal panel members.	AGREED	BTAS would welcome all steps taken to improve the readability and navigation of the Handbook.	No	2
	iv) Redrafting is needed to amplify certain powers that exist in relation to excluding evidence, drawing adverse inferences or imposing costs, so that these are deployed to support case progression.	AGREED	BTAS would welcome such amplification.	No	2
9.2	BTAS should not draft its own Rules as these need to be owned by BSB and approved as part of its regulatory arrangements by the Legal Services Board. However, there is scope for collaborative working on drafting.	NOT AGREED	BTAS would like to discuss with the BSB the introduction of a new mechanism for regularly reviewing tribunal procedural rules and implementing change. BTAS believes that it is appropriate for such rules to sit outside the wider BSB handbook so that the review or the rules	-	2

	Ff Recommendation	BTAS response	BTAS comments	BTAS Cost implication	Priority
			is not dependant on a wider handbook review.		
9.3	New regulations would be required if there were a decision to reduce to 3 person tribunals. Maintaining an option for 5 person tribunals in certain circumstances would also require a Rule change.	AGREED	See the response to this point above.	-	2